Observations on some structural features of the pelecypod shell

Autor(en): **Oberling**, J.J.

Objekttyp: Article

Zeitschrift: Mitteilungen der Naturforschenden Gesellschaft in Bern

Band (Jahr): 20 (1962)

PDF erstellt am: 05.06.2024

Persistenter Link: https://doi.org/10.5169/seals-319512

Nutzungsbedingungen

Die ETH-Bibliothek ist Anbieterin der digitalisierten Zeitschriften. Sie besitzt keine Urheberrechte an den Inhalten der Zeitschriften. Die Rechte liegen in der Regel bei den Herausgebern. Die auf der Plattform e-periodica veröffentlichten Dokumente stehen für nicht-kommerzielle Zwecke in Lehre und Forschung sowie für die private Nutzung frei zur Verfügung. Einzelne Dateien oder Ausdrucke aus diesem Angebot können zusammen mit diesen Nutzungsbedingungen und den korrekten Herkunftsbezeichnungen weitergegeben werden.

Das Veröffentlichen von Bildern in Print- und Online-Publikationen ist nur mit vorheriger Genehmigung der Rechteinhaber erlaubt. Die systematische Speicherung von Teilen des elektronischen Angebots auf anderen Servern bedarf ebenfalls des schriftlichen Einverständnisses der Rechteinhaber.

Haftungsausschluss

Alle Angaben erfolgen ohne Gewähr für Vollständigkeit oder Richtigkeit. Es wird keine Haftung übernommen für Schäden durch die Verwendung von Informationen aus diesem Online-Angebot oder durch das Fehlen von Informationen. Dies gilt auch für Inhalte Dritter, die über dieses Angebot zugänglich sind.

Ein Dienst der *ETH-Bibliothek* ETH Zürich, Rämistrasse 101, 8092 Zürich, Schweiz, www.library.ethz.ch

http://www.e-periodica.ch

J. J. OBERLING

Observations on some structural features of the pelecypod shell

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Abstract	2
Introduction	3
Acknowledgments	3
Technique	4
The shell	5
Layers	5
Chemical composition	15
Shell microstructures	15
Tubulation	17
Marginal region	21
Ribbing	22
Shell structure groups	33
Comparison of Pelecypoda with other Mollusca	35
Table of microstructure distribution in some pelecypod families	37
Glossary	41
Species examined	44
Bibliography	48
Plates	51
Figures	57

Abstract

The shells of about two hundred and thirty species of pelecypods representing thirty-five families have been examined. Many were studied in thin section or by reflected light, others were examined only from their external aspect.

These studies indicate that pelecypod shells are composed of two types of deposits, one secreted by the general surface of the mantle and here termed palliostracum, while the other is secreted over the muscle attachment areas and is here termed myostracum.

The palliostracum is composed, in addition to the periostracum, of three major layers, to which the terms ectostracum, mesostracum, and endostracum are here given. The ectostracum forms the outer surface of the calcareous portion of the shell, including the margin, the mesostracum lies on the inner surface outside the pallial line and includes the hinge, the endostracum comprises the inner surface within the pallial line. A seemingly twolayered shell may result from the combination of the outer two layers (mesectostracum) or the inner two layers (mesendostracum).

The myostracum is divisible into several components, the most important of which are: the pallial myostracum, a thin deposit secreted at the pallial line, and the adductor myostraca, similar deposits secreted in the scars of the adductor muscles. Additional myostracal deposits are formed in the scars of lesser muscles, such as the pedal retractor.

The three calcareous palliostracal layers and occasionally the myostracum have also been observed in the other classes of Mollusca.

The pelecypods examined may be arranged into three major groups according to shell structure. These groups are:

- 1. The nacro-prismatic group. Primitive pelecypods typically with a nacreous mesendostracum and a prismatic ectostracum. The nacro-prismatic structure also occurs in cephalopods and in primitive gastropods.
- 2. The foliated group. Pelecypods typically with one or more foliated layers.
- 3. The complex-lamellar group. Pelecypods typically with a complex endostracum and a crossed-lamellar mesectostracum.

The shells of certain Pelecypoda are markedly tubulate. The general aspect of the tubules, their distribution in the shell, and their density vary greatly between families or superfamilies but are generally relatively constant within such groups.

The tubules may result from either resorption or non-deposition of calcium carbonate about tubular projections of the mantle epithelium, and, perhaps of pallial muscles. Tubules produced by non-deposition are generally about perpendicular to the growth planes throughout the layers in which they occur. When they result from resorption, they are about perpendicular to the growth planes only at the very bottom of the layer

3

or combination of layers into which they are intruded, and not to the prolongations of these growth planes further out in these layers.

The classification of ribbing and related structures used here is based mainly on morphology, in part also on deduced genesis, and is as follows:

- 1. Non-additive ribbing, with the shell margin deformed into plications, lobations, or both.
- 2. Additive ribbing, with structures that appear added onto the shell surface.
- 3. Composite ribbing, with components of both previous types, comprising a non-additive framework on which are secreted additive structures, whose position is directly related to and in most cases apparently determined by that of the non-additive components.

Introduction

This paper is essentially a condensed version of a thesis written for the University of California nine years ago¹. It concerns the various layers found in pelecypod shells, their classification, arrangement, and hence the distribution of the various microstructures contained in these layers, including tubules; an attempted classification of pelecypods based on structure; and the various types of ribbing, together with the modifications they bring about in the structural arrangements within the pelecypod shell. Most of the species observed came from the collection of the University of California and originated from the West Coast of the United States. Some specimens were obtained from the Collection of the Museum of Natural History in Berne and were of European and Asiatic origin.

Acknowledgments

The writer gratefully acknowledges advice and criticism from Drs. J. W. DURHAM, R. L. LANGENHEIM and HOWEL WILLIAMS; he is also grateful for help and advice from Dr. Z. ARNOLD in many technical and other problems, and from Dr. W. K. EMERSON in assembling the bibliography. Dr. DURHAM kindly made available the vast collections of the University

¹ A short abstract of the thesis was published at that time by the author (OBERLING, 1955).

of California at Berkeley for the present study. Dr. ARNOLD is responsible for many of the photographs. Miss J. SISCHO drafted the drawings.

In Berne, Director Dr. W. KÜENZI kindly allowed the use of specimens from the Naturhistorisches Museum for the sections done here and made possible the publication of the work in Switzerland. Dr. W. HUBER helped greatly with the plates and Drs. H. ADRIAN and W. HUBER furnished advice and suggestions in preparing the text. Miss V. GERBER helped much in getting the work ready for publication. Many thanks are due to all these persons from the Museum.

Technique

Three types of sections were used:

- 1. Rough sections produced by breaking shells for examination by reflected light.
- 2. Polished sections obtained by cutting shells with a diamond wheel and polishing the cut surfaces with fine carborundum abrasive. These were also examined by reflected light.
- 3. Thin sections were made by cutting and then grinding parts of shells until they transmitted light¹.

Rough and polished sections were examined with a binocular microscope under 12, 36 and 96 powers by reflected light. Thin sections were examined with a biological microscope under 120 and sometimes 480 powers with transmitted light.

As the present work deals with gross morphological features, with the arrangement and distribution of the microstructures rather than with a close examination of these microstructures themselves, a petrographic microscope was not used, and, in general, low powers of magnification were found to be adequate for these studies.

¹ An attempt was also made to use a plastic (parlodion) peel method for getting better photographs of some sections. The results however have not been generally too satisfactory.

THE SHELL

Layers

The layer terminology of the pelecypods hitherto employed being very confused and based on a somewhat erroneous view of the general shell morphology, a new terminology has been introduced in the present work.

A. Definition of the layers

The pelecypod shell is composed of two types of deposits, one evidently secreted by surface of the mantle and here termed palliostracum, and the other secreted in the attachment areas of the muscles and here termed myostracum (fig. 1, C, D).

- 1. The palliostracum is composed of an outer organic layer, the periostracum, and of three major calcareous layers (Pl. I, fig. 14). The following terms are proposed for these three layers¹:
 - a) Ectostracum. The outer major calcareous layer directly underlying the periostracum, and extending over the entire outer surface of the shell, as well as the marginal parts of the inner surface about the marginal region (fig. 1 C)².

¹ Some critics have claimed that the terms ectostracum, mesostracum and endostracum are confusing, leading one to believe that these layers are secreted by the ectoderm, mesoderm and endoderm. The present author would have no objection, if it indeed proved necessary, to changing these terms to exostracum, mediostracum, entostracum, though these terms would then be «bastard terms», combining lating and greek roots. Moreover, as far as is known to the author, nobody ever believed that endogamous societies were derived from endoderm, or that endoparasites thrived exclusively on that layer.

² In some families of pelecypods (Pteriacea, Spondylidae, Limidae) the outer calcareous layer is more extensive than is usually the case for the ectostracum. Whether

- b) Mesostracum. The middle of the three major calcareous layers between the ectostracum and the pallial myostracum, or endostracum, where the pallial myostracum is lacking. The mesostracum is exposed on the inner surface of the shell marginally to the pallial line and apically to the marginal region, and includes the hinge (fig.1C).
- c) Endostracum. The inner major calcareous layer. The endostracum is exposed on the inner surface of the shell within the area surrounded by the pallial line and the adductor and pedal retractor muscle attachments (fig. 1 C). A small isolated area of endostracum may occur in the ligamental area under the prismatic layer of the ligament.

The term periostracum is retained for the outermost non-calcareous layer.

- 2. The myostracum is divisible into several components which are all usually very thin. The following types have been differentiated:
 - a) Pallial myostracum. An extremely thin, sometimes discontinuous, calcareous layer lying between the mesostracum and endostracum when a pallial attachment area of the mantle is present (fig.1D). The «pallial line» is the surface exposure of this layer. Actually the pallial line is not a line but a zone inasmuch as it has breadth.
 - b) Adductor myostraca. Calcareous layers secreted in the adductor muscle attachment areas (fig.1D; Pl.III, fig.2, AdMy). Although usually rather thin, they are yet the thickest of the myostraca.
 - c) Retractor pedis myostraca and other myostraca. Very thin calcareous layers secreted in the various other muscle attachment areas of the shell.

Layer nomenclature so far has been based essentially on THIELE's work (1893). THIELE originally used the terms hypostracum and ostracum (in *Arca, Lithodomus*, etc.) to denote what is here referred to as endostracum and mesectostracum respectively; in the last pages of his work, however,

it represents a hypertrophied ectostracum or whether in these pelecypods the outer portion of the mesostracum has taken on a structure entirely similar to that of the ectostracum and totally different from that of the inner portion of the mesostracum could not be determined by the present author; it will certainly require a close examination of the mantle to decide between these two alternatives.

7

by overemphasis on one factor (i.e., deviation of the growth lines at the layer boundaries) he misapplied his own terminology in the description of *Unio*, where he labels the adductor myostracum as a hypostracum.

This error apparently has led many authors to the belief that by hypostracum THIELE meant the muscle layers (vide JAMESON, 1912; COKER et al., 1919; GUTSELL, 1930; NEWELL, 1937). Other authors have used THIELE's terms in what was evidently their intended meaning (PRASHAD, 1928; MITCHELL, 1935)³.

To prevent confusion and because there are two calcareous layers outside the pallial line, and not one as THIELE thought, the present terminology is here preferred.

B. Thickness and boundaries of the layers

Each of the four palliostracal layers is generally thicker than the one above it. The periostracum is usually a mere film of conchiolin. It tends, however, to be relatively thick in pelecypods which are exposed to acid attack, such as the chemical borers (ex. *Lithophaga*)⁴ and fresh water clams. The thickness of the ectostracum appears related in part to the type of marginal region present. Reflected marginal regions (ex. *Codakia tigerina*, Pl. I, fig. 14) are in many cases associated with a relatively thick ectostracum, shelf-like marginal regions (e. g., Pectinidae) with a thin ectostracum. The relative thicknesses of the mesostracum and endostracum depends partly on how far from the marginal region the pallial line occurs.

The boundary between the ectostracum and mesostracum is frequently more or less serrate (Pl.I, fig. 14). This phenomenon is probably the result of repeated withdrawals and expansions of the mantle. From the

³ Other terms have also been used, such as nacreous, prismatic, and porcellaneous layers, calcitostracum, etc. (HAAS, 1935). In such classifications, however, structure is mixed up with layer arrangement, often inextricably. In HAAS, for example, the term «calcitostracum» is used for various portions of the shell of monomyarians, and denotes not a layer but the foliated portion of the shell; the «prismatic layer» may include the mesostracum, ectostracum, or both, etc.

⁴ In such forms as *Lithophaga plumula* and others, not only is the periostracum relatively thick, but additional conchiolin sheets are secreted in the endostracum; these may help resist the corrosive action of the acids, once the periostracum is worn away (fig. 3 N).

character of the serrations, it is evident that the withdrawals were more or less instantaneous, the expansions relatively slow. These serrations may be considered as minor imbrications (see p. 13). The inner boundary of the mesostracum is in most cases relatively even, as the mantle is fused to the shell along the pallial line. However, under certain peculiar circumstances, such as marked expansions of the area of muscle attachments (Pl. IV, fig. 3), this boundary may also be rather irregular.

In shells such as *Hinnites* the adductor myostracum is almost entirely overlain by the endostracum and in *Spondylus* entirely so (fig.1Q). In others such as *Chione* (fig.1S) it is overlain by the mesostracum, and in still others such as *Anadara* (fig.1R) partly by both layers. The cause of these variations is that the pallial line in *Spondylus* is entirely marginal to the muscle scar, in *Hinnites* almost entirely so. In *Chione* the pallial line connects with the lateral side of the muscle scars, in *Anadara* with the marginal side of the scars.

The pallial line in many pelecypods does not extend dorsally to any extent from the adductor muscle attachments, but in others, however, it continues over the hinge and forms a closed ring. In the latter case, the portion of the pallial line apical to the muscle scars may be interrupted as in *Pecten s.s.* or continuous as in *Anadara grandis*. In some genera such as *Meleagrina* the ventral portion of the pallial line is also interrupted. In *Meleagrina*, furthermore, the pallial myostracum is composed of a number of distinct bands, similar to other myostraca.

In *Chama*, the adductor scars often do not have a smooth boundary on the endostracal side, but instead show very complex patterns of projections, embayments and islands (Pl.VI, fig.5). The pallial line also is irregular and in some specimens locally appears doubled. In this genus, patches of myostracum are found far into the endostracum, and vice versa. This irregular pattern of the adductor scars and pallial line may occur in other shells. In some specimens of *Tridacna gigas*, for example, portions of the pallial line extend, as «peninsulas» and «islands» far into the endostracum.

The endostracum of many shells is pitted with minor muscle scars, each the locus of a minor myostracum. *Mytilus californianus, Semele decisa* and *Anodontia alba* show this feature prominently. The resulting pitting of the endostracum should not be confused with pitting arising from the emergence of tubules inside the shell, as in *Noetia ponderosa*.

9

C. Combined layers

A seemingly two-layered shell may result from the combination of the outer two layers (mesectostracum) or of the inner two (mesendostracum)⁵. More rarely, all three layers may combine, so that an apparent one-layered shell is produced.

A differentiated combined layer (mesectostracum or mesendostracum) occurs when the two structurally identical component layers can yet to a certain extent be distinguished, either through differing opacity, or through a sudden shifting of the growth laminae at their boundary. The component layers are indistinguishable in an undifferentiated combined layer.

D. Sublayers

The three major layers are in many cases divided into sublayers. The following three types may occur in pelecypods:

- 1. Simple, or horizontal sublayers (fig.1G). The boundaries of these sublayers are parallel to the general trend or boundaries of the major layers to which they belong. Each such sublayer must have been secreted by a distinct zone of the mantle.
- 2. Alternation, or transverse sublayers (fig.1F). These sublayers are transverse to the trend of the major layers, often do not extend across the whole layer. Such sublayers must be secreted alternately by the same region of the mantle.

Growth sublayers are alternation sublayers wherein the successive sublayers appear clearly to represent alternate phases of fast-growth and slow-growth in this portion of the shell. Growth sublayers thus always appear as alternate fast-growth and slow-growth sublayers. The fast- and slow-growth sublayers often show different structures (true growth sublayers), but sometimes the slow-growth sublayers appear to

⁵ In a mesendostracum, however, the mesostracum will usually be separated from the endostracum by the pallial myostracum. The latter, however, is so thin that with the magnifications used here it will scarcely be seen. The mesostracum and endostracum having a similar structure will then appear to form one combined layer, the mesendostracum. be merely coalescences of slow-growth laminae (lamination growth sublayers), in which case their structure is the same as that of the fastgrowth sublayers, differing from the latter only in their lesser opacity.

It might be claimed that all alternation sublayers are growth sublayers; until this be proved, however, it would seem preferable to use the more non-committal term of alternation sublayers, except in cases where fast-growth and slow-growth are most probably involved.

3. Overlap sublayers (fig. 1 H). These are caused by local overlaps⁶ of alternation sublayers, especially slow-growth, of the lamination type and/or by overlaps of individual slow-growth laminae. Thus they usually result from relatively slow secretion. Such sublayers are related to simple sublayers in generally being secreted by a particular region of the mantle. They might even be considered a subtype of simple sublayers. They are, however, also related to alternation sublayers, as they are related to fast- and slow-growth phenomena. They can easily be confused with simple sublayers because of their similar trend and aspect.

Undisputed simple sublayers appear to be of rather unfrequent occurrence among pelecypods. In the ectostracum of *Venus verrucosa*, there is an outer fibrillar and an inner crossed-lamellar sublayer; a somewhat similar situation occurs in *Chione fluctifraga*, but in this shell the mesectostracal boundary is uncertain, and hence there is a slight possibility that the fibrillar sublayer may actually represent the whole ectostracum.

In the Pectinidae, a simple sublayer composed of crossed-lamellar structure appears in the upper portion of the endostracum of *Amussium japonicum* and *Aequipecten circularis*, and on the right valve of *Euvola zigzag* and *Pecten vogdesi*.

The most remarkable type of sublayers occur, however, within the foliated portion of the pectinid shell. In this case the upper sublayer is composed of an uppermost unit of rather steeply $(30^{\circ}-80^{\circ})$ reclined folia, and a lower unit where the folia are less steeply reclined. The folia in this sublayer, in the plane of their surfaces appear as narrow rectangles that seem to cross each other in a very complex fashion, giving rise to sharp angulate patterns, crosses, V's, rhombs, triangles, etc. (Pl. III, figs. 3, 5). Actually these folia do not cross each other but differently

⁶ These «overlaps» are often more apparent than real, overlap sublayers being mostly secreted at a slow rate while fast-growth laminae are secreted elsewhere.

oriented folia overlap and abut. Often folia occur in sets with a dominant orientation (Pl. III, fig. 5), e. g., folia in one region occurring in two sets: one set sloping inward (as observed in transverse section) from right to left at 30° , with another set sloping inward from left to right at about the same angle.

Below this upper sublayer, the folia spiral inward in a more or less regular corkscrew pattern, which in sections appear as «sublayers» of alternately reclined and inclined folia (Pl. III, figs. 4—7). The whole of this lower unit must however be considered as a single sublayer, as its structure is throughout essentially similar.

In the Spondylidae there is a somewhat similar sublayering. In the major outer portion of the foliated layer, the folia are more or less parallel to the trend of that layer. In the inner portion of that layer, however, there appears what may well be considered a distinct sublayer: this is of highly variable thickness and is composed of strongly inclined folia (Pl. IV, fig. 3). This inner sublayer is derived from the outer by rotation of the folia.

Alternation sublayers have a different aspect depending on whether they occur in the outer layers (mesostracum and ectostracum) or inner layer (endostracum) of the shell.

A typical case of mesostracal alternation sublayering occurs in *Acila* castrensis (fig. 1 F; Pl. IV, fig. 2). In this case, we have what are evidently fast-growth sublayers composed of a somewhat faded prismatic structure, and slow-growth sublayers with a nacreous structure.

The distribution of the prismatic sublayers is characteristic (fig. 1 F). Near the periphery of adult shells, prisms occur in wedges in the outer mesostracum (Pl. IV, fig. 2). Away from the periphery the wedges penetrate deeper into the mesotracum, while the areas between the outer portions of the wedges tend to become likewise prismatic. Near the beak this prismatic structure includes most of the mesostracum.

Similar sublayers were observed in the mesectostracum of *Clinocar*dium nuttallii where the fast-growth sublayers have a fibrillar structure, the slow-growth sublayers being crossed-lamellar; in the ectostracum of *Saxidomus nuttallii* which likewise has fast-growth fibrillar sublayers and slow-growth crossed-lamellar ones; in the ectostracum of *Gnidiella* gnidia, which has a similar structure.

One of the clearest examples of alternation sublayers in the endostracum occurs in *Lithophaga plumula* (fig. 3 M). In this shell, sublayers composed of prisms, nacre and conchiolin are present. The outermost sublayer in the endostracum is prismatic and usually thicker than the following sublayers. Inside the prismatic sublayer is deposited a conchiolin sheet, and inside this a nacreous sublayer. Then a new cycle begins with a prismatic sublayer (fig. 3 M). The prismatic sublayers extend to the extreme margin of the endostracum, the others not quite that far. Thus near the margin of the endostracum the prismatic alternation sublayers are directly superimposed, forming a true prismatic sublayer. Sometimes the relationship of the conchiolin sheets to the prismatic and nacreous sublayers is not as regular as described above. Occasionally some sheets occur inside instead of outside of the nacreous sublayers, and conchiolin sheets may be lacking in some cycles. The number of cycles varies greatly from individual to individual, but there may be as many as ten cycles with conchiolin sheets or sublayers.

The endostracal structure of Botula falcata and Brachidontes demissus is similar to that of Lithophaga plumula, with, however, fewer conchiolin sheets. In Septifer bifurcatus, the conchiolin sublayers appear totally absent. In the family Periplomatidae, Periploma planiscula has an endostracum with alternation sublayers of prism and nacre arranged in a pattern very similar to that seen in the above mentioned Mytilidae. Alternation sublayers of crossed-lamellae and conchiolin occur in the endostracum of the Anomiid Pododesmus macroschismus, but here the arrangement of the sublayers, especially the conchiolin ones, is much more complex and irregular than in the preceding forms.

The shells of the family Ostreidae show more distinctly than any other pelecypod here examined the phenomenon of alternation sublayers. Here, unlike in other pelecypods, they are present throughout all or almost all of the shell. What are to all appearance slow-growth sublayers are composed of normal densely packed folia, which are gently reclined or inclined and twist strongly in the plane of foliation. The corresponding fast-growth sublayers consist of very narrow, loosely packed folia more or less perpendicular to the growth planes, with the angles varying from 80 $^{\circ}$ inclined to 80 $^{\circ}$ reclined. The orientation of the folia, as observed in a horizontal plane is very irregular. These fast-growth sublayers are the «chalky layers» of oysters and, unlike the slow-growth sublayers, are opaque. The growth sublayers are irregularly distributed in the shell and of quite variable thickness. The fast-growth sublayers appear in the form of irregular lenses, and the slow-growth sublayers surround these lenses, forming a complex braided pattern (fig. 1B). In the superficial portions of the shell, however, the slow-growth sublayers overlap and coalesce to form a slow-growth overlap sublayer. This is a result of the shelflike aspect of the marginal region. Other regions of slow-growth similarly devoid of fast-growth structure include the area directly under the hinge and a narrow zone around the muscle scar.

Besides the occurrence just cited, overlap sublayers may be found in other shells with a shelf-like marginal region (e.g., *Laevicardium elatum*) or in the inner mesostracum or mesectostracum of some shells (e.g., *Clinocardium nuttallii*).

E. Imbrications

Occasionally, imbrications of one layer into another might be confused with growth sublayers. From the configuration of these imbrications, it is evident that they must be caused by withdrawal of the marginal regions of the mantle at more or less periodic intervals. After the mantle has withdrawn it must slowly extend again, secreting the corresponding layers at a lower level. Thus the periostracum and ectostracum might be secreted inside part of the mesostracum. Expansions of the mantle, as in the formation of concentric ridges, may also produce imbrications.

Imbrications are not often developed to the extent shown in the diagram (fig. 1 I); at times the reach down only a minor distance from the surface. They are frequently seen in *Unio*. Moreover if GRAVE (1911) is correct in asserting that in *Pinna* only the mantle margin can produce prisms, then the prismatic «sublayers» observed in the nacreous layer of this genus would also be mere imbrications.

F. Laminae

Laminae are finer periodical deposits in the shell, reaching often a thickness of about thirty to fifty microns. They occur in both thin translucent and thick opaque varieties. Their position in the shell suggests that they represent respectively intervals of slow-growth and fastgrowth. Slow-growth laminae are more resistant to weathering than fastgrowth laminae, and in fossil shells are commonly etched in relief.

Laminae are generally continuous across the mesectostracal boundary although often sharply bent. Only rarely, however, can laminae be traced across the mesendostracal boundary. There may be two reasons for this:

- 1. Shell secretion may not occur simultaneously within and without the pallial line (heterochronous secretion, fig. 10). A number of authors (e.g., MITCHELL, 1935, etc.) seem to believe that in shells of this type deposition takes place continuously within the pallial line and only intermittently without it.
- 2. Secretion of the myostracum usually appears to be very slow, and it may function as an overlap sublayer. This is suggested by slow-growth laminae and sublayers in the mesostracum reaching the myostracum and following the trend of this layer for some distance before entering the endostracum (fig. 1 N). This occurs in a number of genera, such as *Unio* and *Tivela*, and may be a much more important and common cause for this «break» in the growth laminae along the mesendostracal boundary than has hitherto been assumed. Here secretion is homochronous and occurs at the same time on both sides of the pallial line.

Inasmuch as the lamination in the lower mesostracum and endostracum is often very faint, it is difficult in many cases to determine whether a shell is homochronous or heterochronous. Homochroneity has been proven for several genera, however, by matching laminae on both sides of the myostracum. Heterochroneity, being based on inability to match these laminae is much harder to demonstrate.

The laminae in the endostracum usually diverge somewhat, especially near the pallial line. Upon reaching the myostracum, however, they all bend sharply inwards, and may converge and overlap. This overlap may continue in some genera (e.g., *Clinocardium*) in the inner mesostracum or mesectostracum. Secretion in this region of convergence and overlap is very slow. In the major part of the mesostracum the growth laminae, however, tend to diverge upward and marginally.

In the ectostracum or outermost mesectostracum, the direction of the growth laminae is a direct reflection of the marginal region in which they occur. The following directions of the laminae are most common:

- 1. They may more or less maintain the trend begun in the major part of the mesostracum, diverging and becoming more steeply inclined as they approach the surface (fig.1J). This occurs in steeply inclined to vertical marginal regions.
- 2. They may become less steeply inclined and even approach a horizontal position (fig.1K), with the slow-growth laminae converging and

often forming an overlap sublayer. This occurs in shelf-like marginal regions.

- 3. They may become reflected, forming a marginally convex curve. This occurs in reflected marginal regions (fig. 1 L).
- 4. They may show a sigmoid outline (fig.1M) where the marginal region is inflected.
- 5. Various combinations of the preceding patterns may occur, such as sigmoid outline with reflected outer portion, etc.

Chemical composition

Little has been done here in respect to the chemical composition of the shells. The reader may refer to BOCGILD (1930) and LOPPENS (1920).

The only fact of significance ascertained here is that the adductor myostraca and hence probably all other myostraca seem to be aragonitic in all cases. This is so even in otherwise entirely calcitic shells, such as *Pecten* (BOCGILD, 1930, p.265) and *Ostrea*. In Miocene species of the latter genus, such as *Ostrea titan*, the adductor myostracum is replaced by coarse-grained calcite and samples of this layer in *O. virginica* analyzed for the author by Dr. R. W. CHAVE were also found to be aragonitic.

Shell microstructures

The shell microstructures described by BOGGILD (1930) have not been restudied in detail here, as the present observations concern rather the distribution of the various structures within the various shell layers than a close examination of the structures themselves. Only a few remarks need thus be made here on this subject.

Among the subtypes of prismatic structure cited by BOGGILD, the dependent prismatic was not observed here, as polarized light was not used. The composite prismatic subtype of BOGGILD appears to be simply a prismatic structure associated with a peculiar type of peripheral ribbing: the prisms within each «primary» structure are perpendicular to the growth planes. A somewhat similar subtype of perhaps very different origin, here termed flabellate, is observed in many mytilids. In sections, this subtype shows more or less triangular areas in which prisms radiate from outward-directed apices (Pl. II, fig. 7). The prisms within the triangular areas or fans are not generally perpendicular to the growth planes. In many cases, those on one side of the fan will be inclined, gradually becoming vertical and then finally reclined toward the other side. Actually these fans seen in three dimensions are pyramidal granules with outward-directed apices from which the prisms radiate.

Where the diameters of the prisms are very small (one to several microns) and the length relatively great, the prisms will often appear, under the magnifications here used, as fibers. The structure may in such cases be termed fibrillar. The fibrillar structure is especially common in pelecypods of the complex-lamellar group.

BOGGILD used the term «complex» structure for structure which contains complex crossed-lamellar units associated with «sublayers» of prisms. These prismatic «sublayers» are probably in most cases adductor and other myostraca; when and where this obtains, such «sublayers» are not to be included in the endostracum or its «complex» structure. In the present paper the term complex structure will be used whenever complex crossed-lamellar units predominate and no further analysis of this structure will be attempted.

It must be observed that among BOGGILD's structures the nacreous and foliated are composed of units more or less parallel to the growth planes; the prismatic, crossed-lamellar and complex crossed-lamellar have their primary units more or less perpendicular to the growth planes.

From observations of the «perpendicular» microstructures in the pelecypod shells, e.g., first-order lamellae, it is evident that a single such structure is not secreted always at the same place in the shell. In pelecypods with non-reflected marginal regions, first-order lamellae will often start at the margin on the outside of the ectostracum and end at the inner boundary of the mesostracum (fig. 3 F, A to C); the secreting source in this case must have moved relatively toward the apex, from the margin to the pallial line. In reflected marginal regions, the structures are arranged fan-wise (fig. 3 G), so that those that start just outside the periphery end up at the margin, those starting just inside end up at the inner boundary of the ectostracum or mesectostracum, while new units are constantly appearing about the periphery itself. The relative motion of the secretory sources must therefore have been outwards outside the periphery and inward inside it. The same arrangement of elements is to be noted in peripheral denticles. Where such denticles show a radial arranJ. J. Oberling, Observations on some structural features of the pelecypod shell 17

gement of structural elements, sideways motions of the secretory sources must also take place.

Finally, to produce the twisted first-order lamellae of *Schizothaerus nuttallii* (Pl. V, fig. 5), rotory motions of the secretory sources must have obtained. This holds true also for the spiralling folia of the Pectinidae (Pl. III, fig. 6).

Tubulation

The shells of several pelecypod families are characterized by the presence of tubules. These are very tenuous, the diameter varying from two microns or less in *Septifer* to about twenty microns in the endostracum of *Noetia ponderosa*. Study of this aspect of shell morphology is complicated by burrows of bryozoa, sponges, algae and other organisms which often honeycomb molluscan shells. These burrows in many cases have diameters of the same order of magnitude as the tubules, but the following characters differentiate tubules from burrows:

- 1. Tubules are relatively straight and regular whereas burrows usually form complex irregular networks.
- 2. Tubules are systematically arranged with respect to general shell morphology.
- 3. Tubules usually are systematically present or absent in related genera and species.

In addition to burrows of organisms, fibrils or small prisms might be confused with tubules, especially in the *Mytilidae*, where these two structures are often closely associated. In some sections the conchiolin walls between prisms might also be mistaken for tubules.

The distribution within the shell varies greatly, but is usually quite constant within families or superfamilies. This distribution is as follows:

- Tubules in endostracum only: Mytilidae, Lucinidae, Chamidae (fig. 2 A; Pl. I, figs. 12, 14).
- Tubules in endostracum and mesostracum: Carditidae, Lyonsidae (fig. 2 B, C; Pl. I, figs. 8, 13).
- Tubules apparently present in all three layers: Spondylidae (fig. 2D, E; Pl. IV, fig. 4).

Tubules present only in area surrounded by the pallial line, but penetrating all three layers: Arcacea (fig.2F)⁷.

Tubules are also present in at least some *Pectinidae*, *Meleagrinidae*, *Pinnidae* and probably in some other families, but their distribution within the shell has not been determined because the structure of these shells or the apparently irregular occurrence of the tubules makes their identification difficult.

The tubules in all the families and superfamilies listed above, except the Arcacea and perhaps some Meleagrinidae were in all probability formed mostly contemporaneously with shell deposition (e.g., in the Mytilidae, endostracal tubules developed concurrently with deposition of the endostracum). It is probable that shell substance was deposited around fleshy papillae of the mantle epithelium. IHERING (1874) asserts that the tubules in the glochidia of Unio result from more or less rigid protuberances (papillae) on the secreting cells. The papillae themselves do not secrete calcium carbonate, and appear as «blunt, pale processes, 0,007 mm long and 0,0025 mm wide, which at their lower ends are continuous into the main cell body». Whether such short papillae are responsible for the longest tubules remains to be proven.

The outer part at least of the tubules in the Arcacea (and perhaps also in some Meleagrinidae) must result from some type of solution, for:

- 1. They appear only inside the pallial line (and about the margin of the nacre in some Meleagrindae), but they pierce all the outer calcareous layers. Thus they formed after the secretion of these outer layers.
- 2. They are usually about perpendicular to the growth planes only at the very bottom of the layers or combined layers into which they are intruded, and not to the prolongations of these growth planes further out in these layers. This appears quite clearly in the Arcacea.

The character of the individual tubules varies in different families and even in different genera of the same family. For example, in *Lyonsia* they are markedly sinuous (Pl. I, fig. 13), in *Anadara* relatively straight (Pl. II, fig. 1), and in *Chama* they have funnel-like tips (Pl. VI, figs. 6, 7).

Tubules have been observed in association with all the types of shell structures, except granular and homogeneous.

⁷ Such tubules were observed not only in the Arcidae, including Glycymeris, but also in the Limopsidae (e.g., in Limopsis multistriata Forskal.).

J. J. Oberling, Observations on some structural features of the pelecypod shell 19

Tubules have a distinct positional relationship to structures whenever they were formed at the same time as these structures (and in the case of Meleagrina apparently even after they have been formed). Where a prismatic structure is present, this relationship is especially clear; in some pelecypods tubules occur mostly between prisms, in others within prisms, but they have never been observed to occur at random both within and without these structural elements. For example: in Meleagrina, tubules, when found⁸, occur almost exclusively within the prisms, usually with many tubules to a prism (Pl.II, fig.5). In Volsella, the tubules are located largely between the prisms (Pl.II, fig.6), with more tubules than prisms. In Spondylus tubules also occur between the prisms (Pl. II, fig. 3), but here the prisms are more numerous than the tubules. In the last genus, moreover, a similar positional relationship obtains between tubules and the crossed-lamellae of the mesostracum (Pl.IV, fig.5), the firstorder lamellae being in many cases abruptly interrupted and their outline as observed on the inner shell surface greatly modified where tubules appear.

Some sort of positional relationship between tubules and shell structures appears also in the foliated *Hinnites*, where the tubules show many sharp angulations, the angles in many cases corresponding to the boundaries of the various stacks of folia (fig.2H).

BOWERBANK (1844) and CARPENTER (1844) first recorded tubules although those recorded by BOWERBANK appear to be of extraneous origin. CARPENTER distinguished between tubules that «form a network which spreads itself out in each layer, parallel to its surface ...» and those which «run a distance from each other obliquely through the shelly layers». Only the latter are here considered as tubules. CARPENTER records such tubules in *Arca*, *Glycymeris* and *Lithodomus*. SOOT-RYEN (1951, p. 14) notes the occurrence of tubules in the Philobryidae. Tubules have also been recorded by TULLBERG (1881), FISCHER (1887) and HAAS (1931).

Strangely, BOGGILD (1930), although constantly referring to CARPEN-TER's work, never mentions tubules. The nearest approach to describing them is his paragraph (p. 273) on prisms in *Volsella*, «the prisms are very

⁸ The occurrence of tubulation in the Meleagrinidae appears to be highly variable. Tubules appeared clearly in some specimens of *Meleagrina margaritifera*, and could not be observed at all in other specimens. Their exact distribution, where they are present, is still rather doubtful. distinct, but on closer examination we see that there is a system of distinct, black lines running through the middle of the prisms, while their boundaries are not very distinctly marked». These black lines presumably are the tubules so common in that genus.

One of the best examples of well-developed tubulation occurs in the Arcidae (Pl. II, figs. 1, 2). Each tubule in the shell of this family consists of an endostracal portion, evidently appearing with that layer and connate with it, and a portion intruding into the mesectostracum⁹. This intrusion must result from solution or some similar process. The reasons for believing that the mesectostracum has thus been intruded by tubules have been noted above; they are confirmed by the following facts:

- 1. In longitudinal sections it can be seen that, apically from the pallial line, the tubules do not immediately extend to the external surface of the shell, but that they penetrate with various degrees of gradualness further and further into the mesectostracum, until finally they reach that surface (fig. 2G). This «lag» between the appearance of the tubules on the inner and outer surfaces of the shell can be checked on many specimens. It can be easily demonstrated whenever the tubules are large enough, by rubbing the surface with ink and thus filling the ends of the tubules. The resulting black dots usually appear further away from the margin on the outer than on the inner surface. The ink-filled tubules may also be readily observed in longitudinal sections. As observed in Arca truncata, Anadara multicostata, Noetia ponderosa and Glycymeris multicostatus, the relative rate of penetration of the tubules to the outer shell surface varies considerably. The angle included between the outer end of the tubules as they rise in the mesectostracum and the outer surface of the shell tends to be around 60°, but varies (from about 30° to 120° or more, the latter figure being gotten in some cases where tubules are slightly inclined; Pl.V, fig.6).
- 2. Where the tubules in the endostracum are throughout more or less perpendicular to the growth planes, their continuation into the mesectostracum tends to be more or less perpendicular to the growth plane at the very bottom of this combined layer, where the tubules penetrate it. This initial direction is maintained by the tubules throughout the mesectostracum without regard to the attitude of the growth planes in the major portion of this combined layer. Inasmuch as the

⁹ Since the tubules penetrate all three layers inside the pallial line, both dentition and myostraca are tubulated.

growth planes often bend inwards at the mesendostracal boundary, the tubules upon passing from the endostracum into the mesectostracum are bent marginally. This characteristic appears especially well in the later stages of shell growth probably due to the increasing lag of endostracum secretion over that of the mesectostracum (Pl.II, fig.2).

In certain species, such as *Noetia ponderosa*, the endostracal and mesostracal portions of the tubules are especially well differentiated. The endostracal portion is relatively wide and sinuous, the mesectostracal portion narrow and straight (Pl. II, fig. 2).

Another characteristic of the distribution of tubules in most of the Arcidae is that near the pallial line they usually occur only on radial zones or ridges. Not infrequently they are arranged here in regular rows (Pl. II, fig. 4). Further apically tubules occur also in the spaces between these zones, and their arrangement on the zones becomes less regular. Eventually they occur everywhere in about equal abundance. This linear arrangement of tubules near the pallial line is not evident in the species of *Arca s. s.* studied, and in this genus their occurrence is everywhere irregular.

Marginal region

The marginal region is the face of the edge of the shell. One must distinguish the «margin» itself, which is a line where the face-edge meets the outer shell surface, and the «periphery», which is a line in the face edge — or «marginal region» — farthest away, in a radial direction, from the apex.

Structures on the marginal region of the shell situated above the periphery will be here termed — supraperipheral, structures situated on the periphery itself — peripheral, and below the periphery — subperipheral.

Marginal regions may vary greatly in their configuration. The following variants are especially noteworthy: The reflected type in which the periphery lies below the margin (fig. 3 G, periphery at extreme left, margin near A'), and the non-reflected type in which the margin and periphery coincide (fig. 3 F, margin and periphery at extreme left). In most reflected margins, the periphery lies within the ectostracum, at its middle or above it. When the periphery occurs at the middle of the ectostracum, the margin is said to be fully reflected, when above it, partially reflected. These terms, fully and partially reflected are only here used when the periphery lies within the ectostracum. In some pelecypods (e.g., *Anomalocardia*, etc.) the periphery lies about the mesectostracal boundary or even well within the mesostracum.

Non-reflected marginal regions may be shelf-like (Pl. V, fig. 8), in which case the shelf being almost parallel to the direction of shell growth, slow-growth structure will be present.

Inflections may show in both reflected and non-reflected marginal regions, as in many Veneridae (Pl.VI, fig.4). A particular and partial type of inflection may be seen in the Carditidae (Pl.I, fig.8). Inflected marginal regions will produce sigmoid growth laminae in longitudinal sections.

Finally, it may be added that, when spines occur on the shell of a pelecypod, the type of marginal region present (or rather the attitude of the mantle margin when secreting such a region) will to a great extent condition the type of spine shown by the shell. A reflected marginal region will be associated with spines opening apically (fig.1E). A nonreflected concave, shelf-like marginal region will be associated with spines opening adapically (i.e., in *Spondylus* and many Cardiidae; Pl.V, fig.3) even if a secondary reflection occurs on the rims of the spine itself (as in the anterior spines of *Trachycardium consors*, Pl.V, fig.4). The spines of *Trachycardium quadrigenarium* (Pl.V, fig.1) represent a different phenomenon, as they are first open adapically, but then fill up rapidly with additive deposits of the type mentioned in the chapter on ribbing. The result is that such spines as a whole cannot be said to open either apically or adapically.

Ribbing

A. Generalities

The term ribbing or costation is here used in a specialized sense to indicate any continuous radial or semi-radial structure on or in the shell, with the exception of teeth.

Three types of ribbing are defined by their relationship to the surfaces of the shell:

1. Outer ribs.

- 2. Inner ribs, situated on the inner shell surface. This term applies to purely additive structures, such as the «lyrae» of *Amussium*, but not to ridges and grooves that are, to some extent at least, a reflection of the external ribbing.
- 3. Internal ribs, rib-like internal structures within the ectostracum and occasionally the outer mesostracum. These are produced by peripheral or subperipheral denticles not positionally related to either outer or inner ribbing.

Ribs are separated from each other by «lows» termed interspaces. Within the interspaces smaller ribs of varying degrees of prominence may be present and may be differentiated as secondaries, tertiaries, and so on. At times major ribs, interspaces and minor ribs are covered by very fine riblets.

On the basis of morphology of the ribbing, three major types of ribs are here recognized:

- 1. The non-additive type, characterized essentially by some kind of folding of the shell margin. There are two main subtypes:
 - a) The plicate subtype, by far the most easily recognizable, where the folding is approximately perpendicular to the shell surface (Pl.I, fig.1).
 - b) The lobate subtype, where the folding lies parallel to the shell surface.
- 2. The additive type, featuring essentially structures that appear added onto the shell surface. Shell secretion on the summits of these structures, where these grow, must be relatively rapid. The additive type is subdivided into the following subtypes:
 - a) The inner additive subtype, including inner ribbing.
 - b) The subperipheral additive subtype, including subperipheral denticles, and hence internal ribbing.
 - c) The peripheral additive subtype, including peripheral denticles and internal ribbing, and also occasionally a vague outer ribbing (Pl. I, fig. 2).
 - d) The supraperipheral additive subtype, with supraperipheral denticles and outer ribbing (Pl.IV, fig.6).

3. The composite type, including components of both non-additive and additive types, with, in general, a non-additive framework on which are secreted additive structures. The position of the additive structures is directly related to and in most cases apparently determined by that of the non-additive components. In all shells studied the additive structures (subperipheral denticles) lie under the interspaces of the outer ribbing.

It must be pointed out that a strict consideration of the secreting source, i.e., the mantle, might have yielded a slightly modified version of the present classification. It appears likely that additive structures as well as lobate non-additive ribbing are produced by local mantle expansions, while plicate ribbing may derive from simple folds of the mantle edge. Composite ribbing would be the result of a combination of both factors. Whether such mantle expansions actually occur will have to be determined on the living animal itself. In any case the present classification must take into account rather the observed morphology of the shell than the inferred morphology of the mantle.

In plicate ribbing, the ridges and grooves on the inner surface of the shell are subdued replicas of the interspaces and ribs on the outside. Apically, the grooves become shallower and finally disappear. Deposition, then, must be faster in the grooves than on the ridges, and thus even in non-additive ribs secretion does not take place at the same rate at all points. In this case, however, additional secretion serves only to «level out» the ridges and grooves while in composite ribbing the extra-secretion often increases the height of the ridges and denticles, while sharply altering their configuration.

In the case of additive ribbing, it must be noted that for a peripheral denticle to maintain its shape during shell growth requires much slower deposition on its sides than on its summit, and the steeper the side the slower the secretion. Where the sides are vertical no deposition at all would take place (fig. 2 L). This applies also to subperipheral and supraperipheral denticles, shelflike marginal regions, etc. The sides of a denticle are thus generally covered with the translucent shell substance typical of slow-growth secretion. A subperipheral denticle, due to its position in regard to the marginal region of the shell will show such slow-growth deposition mostly or only on its lateral flanks (fig. 2 N). In transverse section these slow-growth zones will appear more or less perpendicular to the shell surface. These zones are here called partitions. In composite

ribbing, wherein the denticles underlie the interspaces of the outer ribbing, these partitions will separate out areas under the ribs (rib areas) from areas under the interspaces (interspace areas). It must be noted, however, that partitions are produced by denticles and not by external ribbing and therefore partitions are related to such ribbing only so long as the denticles are so related. The terms rib and interspace areas are here used only for composite ribbing. The term denticle area and indentation area might be employed with additive ribbing.

The denticles of a composite ribbing are generally not flat, but secretion in the marginal portion of the denticle tends to be concentrated at the sides of the denticles to form what are here called lateral flanges¹⁰ (fig.2M). A secondary pair of flanges may and usually does appear on the lateral flanks of the first, or primary further apically (Pl. V, fig. 2, 2). If the flanges are prominent and the denticle narrow, a deep depression occurs in the middle, or axial portion of the denticle (Pl. I, fig.4). Such denticles are here termed excavate. If the flanges are relatively weak and the denticles wide, more or less flattened denticles here referred to as planate denticles are produced (Pl. I, fig.9). The flanges themselves may be either sharp or rounded¹¹.

In reflected marginal regions, a fold or lobe of the mantle margin would evidently produce a denticle, which is an additive deposit. Thus the ribbing in such a case would be both plicate (or lobate) and additive. Because the presence of the additive denticle is the most readily observed factor in this case, such ribbing will here be considered additive.

B. Distribution of ribbing types

Cardiidae

The Cardiidae may be divided into three major groups according to their ribbing:

1. Normal composite ribbing, by far the most common, including Cardium, Papyridea, Dinocardium, Americardium, Cerastoderma and Clinocardium.

¹⁰ Flanges may also occasionally appear in simple additive submarginal denticles.

¹¹ In such flanged denticles the partitions will of course occur on the lateral flanks of the flanges: in rare cases, where the flanges are very sharp, partitions may occur on both sides of a flange.

- 2. Ribbing almost completely additive, due to obsolescence of the plicate component, including *Laevicardium* and *Nemocardium*.
- 3. Ribbing obsolete to absent, including Serripes.

The secretion pattern in the composite-ribbed Cardiidae, as deduced from the growth lines observed in transverse section would be as follows:

Deposition on the marginal tips of the denticles will often be concentrated at the sides, i. e., on the flanges (Pl. I, figs. 3, 4), with little or no deposition on the axial region, which will tend to remain parallel to the bottom of the interspace just outside it. Such a denticle in transverse section will show at that point three concavities corresponding to the flanges and the concave bottom of the interspace (fig. 2 J, 2nd growth line from the top in the interspace area). Further apically, levelling deposition together with the widening of the flanges will eliminate the central concavity and the growth lines in the interspace area will assume a general convex pattern (fig. 2 J, 3rd and 4th growth lines from the top in the interspace area).

Where the rib area is narrow and the flanges are strongly developed (e.g., *Trachycardium consors*), the convexity of the growth laminae in the rib area becomes tongue-like (fig.2J; Pl.IV, fig.8), with the laminae on both sides of the tongue very closely spaced. Sometimes also, spines on top of the ribs will cause growth laminae to be produced to a point (Pl.VI, fig.8).

The shell substance in the flanges may be relatively opaque (e.g., *Trachycardium consors*), resulting, as observed in transverse section, in the forming of opaque inverted comas on both sides of the rib area (fig.2J; Pl.VI, fig.1).

In many Cardiidae (e.g., *Trachycardium consors*), a secondary flange appears on each side of the denticle (Pl.V, fig.2). This appears on the side of the primary or original flange, when this has mostly ceased to grow laterally and is growing vertically. As this flange usually originates in gradual fashion and as its growth is mostly sideways, the secondary partition on its lateral flank generally starts in the primary and then slants strongly towards the axis of the rib area. In most cases the primary flanges will cease to be secreted as they are covered by the secondary flanges. The secondary partition as observed in transverse section will in this case appear as an outturned terminal section of the primary (fig. 2 J; Pl. IV, fig. 8). In some cases, however, the primary flanges may continue to grow vertically: in this case, in transverse section, the secondary partitions will be seen to branch away from the nearly vertical inner region of the primary partition, this primary partition continuing some distance further in the shell (fig. 2 I).

A further complication may occur in that near the tip of the denticle, two flanges may be involved almost from the beginning, an axial one growing vertically and a lateral one growing sideways. If the deposits of the lateral flange do not cover all of the lateral slope of the axial flange, two partitions will result, an axial and a lateral.

In some Cardiidae (e.g., *Trachycardium consors*) the primary flanges may show, some distance from the shell margin, a faint axial groove. This shows up in the growth laminae in transverse section as a minor angular upward rise (fig. 2 J, under central partition).

Additional very faint additive ribs appear inside the grooves of the inner shell surface of most Cardiidae. These inner ribs start in the apical part of the mesostracum but may involve part of the endostracum as well.

In *Cardium costatum* (Pl. I, fig. 5), the ribbing is unique: the ribs are composed of two distinct parts: a low, rounded base surmounted by a high, narrow, hollow, triangular structure. The hollow portion of the rib must have been produced by a lobe with a non-secretory central region. Levelling deposition is almost totally absent in this species, the denticles persisting almost to the apex of the shell. Cavities may also be found in the levelling deposits filling the excavations of the denticles; moreover the tooth sockets are very deep, extending almost to the apex. From all this it may be seen that great portions of the mantle of this species must secrete little, if any calcareous matter.

Adacnidae

In the Adacnidae, only *Didacna trigonoides* (Pallas) was studied; the ribbing shows denticles rather similar to that of the composite-ribbed Cardiidae, though the flanges are here poorly developed or absent altogether. In these shells, moreover, there appears to be little, if any trace of a plicate component; the ribbing is thus essentially subperipheral additive.

Tridacnidae

The ribbing in this family, although usually composite, is in some respects quite different from that of the Cardiidae. In this case, small riblets are superimposed on the main ribs (and interribs, if any). These riblets are, like the underlying ribs, composite. They increase in number through intercalation and bifurcation. Some riblets, on the other hand, reverse the process, that is, unite or peter out. The denticles of both ribs and riblets often persist far away from the marginal region. The denticles of the riblets, especially in *Hippopus maculatus*, are extremely narrow and prolonged far apically.

In some species of *Hippopus* and *Tridacna*, the riblets tend to become obsolete and the denticles of the major ribs tend to disappear (i.e. in *Tridacna squamosa*). This process may lead to the production of simple plicate ribbing in some cases.

Arcidae

The ribbing in many of the Arcidae is composite, the ribs tending to be rectangular or subrectangular in outline, the denticles relatively broad even at their tips, more or less planate and the flanges, when present, not too prominent. All Anadaras studied show such features, and also *Noetia ponderosa*. In *Arcopsis solida*, however, the ribbing is supraperipheral additive, in *Arca s. s.* mostly additive, in *Barbatia reeviana* almost entirely plicate.

In the genus *Glycymeris* a peculiar type of composite ribbing appears (Pl. I, fig. 11). Here the non-additive component of the composite ribbing is usually poorly developed, often with narrow, groove-like interspaces; the denticles start about the margin with a narrow convex segment, the main segment of the denticle appearing only some distance apically. This main segment is marginally raised throughout, becoming excavate further apically. Its appearance is as if the primary flanges on each side of the main denticle segment had a common origin just apically from the small marginal segment of the denticle, then further apically diverged, leaving the space about the denticle axis excavate. It appears likely (though this could not be definitely proven by the author) that to produce this excavation in the denticle, a slight amount of resorption of shell substance might be necessary. Secondary flanges are often to be observed on the sides of this excavate portion of the denticle.

Many variations of this *Glycymeris* pattern are present in different individuals or species of that genus. The subgenera *Axinactis* Mörch and *Tucetona* Iredale show moreover a well developed outer ribbing.

Carditidae

The ribbing of the Carditidae is composite and quite characteristic: the outer ribbing resulting from the plicate component is generally undulate, though in a number of species the rib slopes may overhang (Pl. I, fig. 7). The denticles show in some cases (Pl. I, fig. 10, especially in denticle to the left) a small marginal segment, narrow, convex and devoid of flanges, similar to that of Glycymeris. In other cases, however, this marginal portion is missing. The major segment of the denticles appears near the mesectostracal boundary (Pl.I, figs.9, 10). It is broad and planate, the flanges not too prominent at least in its marginal portion, and with nearly vertical lateral flanks. What is especially noteworthy here is that near the mesectostracal boundary rapid secretion takes place also in the indentation: the resulting deposits show a flat inner surface and a vertical marginal slope (Pl. I, fig. 9; Pl. V, fig. 8). The broad planate denticles with more or less vertical sides and the planate indentation deposits together make up a crenate pattern along the mesectostracal boundary that is seen but rarely outside this family. The flanges are variously developed, and in many cases, after a slight lateral expansion they build up toward the denticle axis, producing an apically narrowed denticular summit (Pl. I, fig. 10). Secondary flanges appearing further apically on the flanks of the primary flanges grow in the same manner (Pl. V, fig. 7).

The ribbing pattern of the Carditidae, though rather uniform, may show some interesting modifications. For example, in some specimens, a small circular depression may occur on the perpendicular marginal slopes of the deposits in the indentations (Pl. V, fig. 8). This feature in transverse sections causes the growth laminae within the ribs to be arranged in a series of concentric rings (Pl. I, fig. 7).

Pectinidae

The Pectinidae show great variation in their ribbing. In the Patinopecten type of ribbing (*Patinopecten*, *Chlamys*, *Vertipecten*, *Pseudamussium* and *Aequipecten* monotimeris), the ribbing is non-additive. In the Amussium type (Amussium only), it is additive, with inner ribbing in the form of paired «ledges» or «lyrae».

In the Pecten type (*Pecten, Euvola*), the ribbing is composite, in appearance somewhat similar to that of the wide-denticled Cardiidae, the denticles here also showing two pairs of well-developed flanges. The main peculiarity of the present ribbing is that on and about the pair of secondary flanges the deposits are composed of an opaque, somewhat chalky substance quite different from the folia elsewhere in the shell. In transverse sections, these «chalky» deposits appear as irregular inverted commas on each side of the rib area (Pl. III, fig. 5).

In the Lyropecten type of ribbing (Lyropecten, most Aequipecten), the ribbing is likewise composite and superficially not unlike the preceding. The «chalky» deposits were not, however, clearly visible in any of the specimens observed. On the other hand, the folia within the ribs, which are generally little modified in the Pecten group, have here taken on a very peculiar aspect, easily observable in transverse sections: in each rib area the folia are arranged into two sets, one in each half of the area. The folia in each set are convex outwards and interlock in the center ¹² of the rib area (fig. 3, H—K; Pl. II, figs. 9, 11; Pl. III, fig. 1).

To form this interlocking structure the folia of one set, then the other, overlap the mid-point of the rib area in turn; this can be observed on the inner surface of *Aequipecten circularis* where the interlocking structures are represented by very jagged lines, somewhat like those of a seismograph during a severe earthquake. Some of these lines show as many as 150—220 bends or jogs, the jogs not corresponding from one rib to the next (Pl.III, fig.8).

Some Pectens (e.g., *Pecten maximus*) sometimes show traces of these interlocking structures, but in all cases observed here, these were irregular in occurrence, and the sutures rarely, if ever, appear in the center of the rib areas.

¹² Strictly speaking, the folia of the two sets interlock in the center of rib area only in the central ribs of the shell. In the ribs to the sides, the interlocking suture has likewise shifted sideways within the rib areas, in the same directions as the ribs: for example, in the anterior ribs of the shell, the suture line will be located in the anterior portion of the rib and rib area. J. J. Oberling, Observations on some structural features of the pelecypod shell 31

Spondylidae

The ribbing of *Spondylus* is composite and extremely irregular with ribs sometimes showing several sets of «rib areas» and partitions because of the presence on their flanks of composite riblets. The very fine secondary riblets often observed on these shells are apparently lobate nonadditive and thus do not have partitions or rib areas. In transverse sections, the folia appear in general parallel to the growth planes, and the deep, narrow indentations between the denticles of the composite ribbing are reflected inside the shell substance by the deeply arched or looped pattern of the folia in the rib area (fig.3L), this loop downwards in many cases becoming angulated.

The ribbing of *Plicatula* differs from that of *Spondylus* in that it is usually plicate. Some individuals of *Plicatula gibbosa*, however, show subperipheral denticulations, but these appear positionally unrelated to the plicate ribs, and the ribs thus cannot be considered composite.

Veneridae

A peculiar type of «decadent» or «dissociating» composite ribbing may be observed in some Veneridae (i. e., *Protothaca grata*, *P. crassicostata*) wherein a normal composite ribbing is present on a portion of the shell (a number of ribs in the posterior-central region of the shell in both of the species mentioned above), while in the remaining portions of the shell there is a loss of positional relationship between outer ribbing and subperipheral denticles¹³.

In many Veneridae (i. e., Protothaca staminea, Antigona puerpera, «Venus» columbiensis, Anomalocardia subrugosa), there are present positionally unrelated external ribs (often with additive supraperipheral denticles) and subperipheral denticles (Pl. I, fig. 6), these last denticles being generally much more numerous than the ribs. Judging from the preceding «dissociating» ribbing, it appears not unlikely that this present

¹³ The reason for such a dissociation of a composite ribbing is not very clear. It is possible that in some cases this dissociation is a result of the progressive reflection of the marginal region. The mantle folds producing the non-additive component of the composite ribbing being elevated at right angles to the general surface of the margin will have no component around the bend of the periphery of a reflected marginal region. The non-additive component above the bend will thus become isolated from the additive subperipheral denticles below the bend.

Mitteilungen der Naturforschenden Gesellschaft in Bern

ribbing may also have originated in ancestral species as a composite ribbing.

Finally, in a number of Veneridae, the ribbing has remained entirely composite (i.e., in *Chione succincta*, *Circe gibba*).

Tellinacea

In the Tellinacea, the margin is reflected and the ribbing, when present, always additive and composed of more or less peripheral denticles and derived outer ribbing¹⁴.

In the species of *Donax* studied the denticles are arranged in a single peripheral row. The denticulation of certain Semelidae (i.e., *Semele decisa*) and the resulting outer ribbing are more complex and are described below:

In Semele decisa, the denticulation on the marginal region consists of many rows of irregularly distributed denticles. These tend to be coarse and globular near the outer surface, but are finer and elongate transversally to the shell surfaces further in (Pl. IV, fig. 6).

These inner elongate denticles often split inward and occasionally may fuse with each other, forming a rather complex braided pattern.

As the ectostracum which is thus denticulated has a fibrillar structure, the resulting structure in longitudinal section consists of a very complex arrangement of narrow, fan-shaped arrays of fibers (Pl.II, fig. 10). The fans subdivide outwards and inwards from the center of the ectostracum, where the fans originate out of a more or less regular fibrillar structure. The fans then subdivide repeatedly into smaller and smaller units until these fan systems reach the outer and inner surface of the layer. Some of these units, however, are eliminated before they reach the shell surfaces, and in the systems pointing outwards there is occasional fusion of fans.

The fan patterns in longitudinal section indicate that the denticles were originally peripheral, and subsequently migrate outwards and inwards from the periphery. In this process they apparently divide into several units or disappear. This division is not a result of any resorptive pro-

¹⁴ In some Tellinacea, perhaps best illustrated by *Donax punctostriatus*, a complication to the ordinary peripheral additive ribbing may occur in certain regions of the shell. This consists of supplementary grooves, or «secondary interspaces» showing up right above the middle of the additive denticles. In *D. punctostriatus* itself, of course the normal interspaces as well as the secondary ones manifest themselves essentially as a succession of pits on the outer shell surface. cess, but simply of unequal secretion over the previous surface. These sources of unequal secretion must move relatively outwards and inwards from the periphery, all the time dividing further. Finally, as in *Semele decisa*, the outer edge of the irregularly distributed denticles is elevated above the general level of the outer surface of the shell. The resulting external ornamentation consists of a very peculiar and irregular nodulation with only vague traces of radial arrangement (Pl. IV, fig. 7). The denticles in the inner ectostracum are eventually covered by the mesostracum.

It must be noted that the fibers within each fan radiate as do the fans. It is thus likely that the secreting sources move continually from the center region of the denticles to the denticular margins, even as these denticles themselves move away from the periphery.

Panopeidae

In Panope generosa the ribbing much resembles that of Semele decisa. The outer ribbing here is also beaded, but may in addition show a scattering of small ribs, irregular in trend and sometimes even crossing (Pl. II, fig. 8).

Shell structure groups

On the basis of their structures the shells studied could be fitted into three major groups (see table of microstructures). Two of the present groups seem to have a basic structural plan which shows up in many Recent forms. In the other (the foliated group) no basic structural plan could be detected in Recent forms, but such a plan appears to have existed in Paleozoic ancestors of these Recent forms.

The first group is here termed the nacro-prismatic group and appears to have basically a nacreous mesendostracum and prismatic ectostracum. It is typified by the Unionidae. This structure and its variants occur not only in primitive pelecypods such as *Nucula*, but also in primitive gastropods such as *Pleurotomaria* and *Haliotis*, and with certain modifications in the tebrabranchiate cephalopods such as *Nautilus*. This nacro-prismatic structure appears thus to represent the primitive structure for the mollusks as a whole, or at least an important common structural stage for most mollusk groupings. The second group is termed the foliated group and includes all Recent monomyarian pelecypods. These late representatives of this group are characterized by folia, which are always present though in differing amounts. Foliated structure, however, involves different portions of the shell in the diverse monomyarian families and probably developed independently in several closely related stocks. Thus the shell structure of any one family is not clearly derivable from that of any other family. Distribution of crossed-lamellae and prisms is also quite variable in this group. NEWELL's (1937) studies indicate that none of the presumed late Paleozoic ancestors of the Recent monomyarians had folia. Their structure, when not nacro-prismatic, was characterized as in *Aviculopecten* by a crossed-lamellar mesendostracum, and the ectostracum was prismatic in the right valve and homogeneous in the left.

There remains, however, one serious objection to Aviculopecten or a related genus as the immediate ancestral form of the foliated group. In these Paleozoic genera, the endostracal crossed-lamellae are arranged radially, whereas those of modern monomyarians are absent or are arranged concentrically as in *Plicatula* and *Pododesmus*. Thus the ancestor of the present monomyarians probably would have to have acquired concentric crossed-lamellae in the endostracum before the various families were structurally differentiated.

The third or *complex-lamellar group* has basically a complex endostracum and a crossed-lamellar mesectostracum, and is exemplified by the Arcidae. This group includes most isomyarians as well as the family Dreissenidae among the anisomyarians.

The general structural pattern of the various families within each structural group is rather similar, and modifications from typical structure are not very great. The following are the main types of structural modifications:

In the nacro-prismatic group, the endostracum and mesostracum may one or both tend to be prismatic, although no shell was found in which both were fully prismatic. The ectostracum may be gránular. All layers may be more or less homogeneous.

In the foliated group, the endostracum and mesostracum may either one or both be partially or wholly crossed-lamellar. The endostracum may be partly or wholly prismatic. The ectostracum may be more or less prismatic, at least in the right value. In the complex-lamellar group, the ectostracum and sometimes the upper mesostracum may be fibrillar. The mesostracum, especially its lower portion, and the endostracum often tend to become homogeneous. The endostracum in some cases tends to be prismatic or radial crossed-lamellar.

The exact phylogenetic significance of these structural groups is as yet uncertain. It is theoretically possible that shells of very different origins may have acquired a more or less similar structure through convergence. This appears not to be the case for the nacro-prismatic and foliated groups, and for the heterodonts in the complex-lamellar group; if Dou-VILLE's phylogenies (as shown in DAVIES, p. 127) are valid, however, it would appear that complex-lamellar structure may have been acquired by other pelecypod groups independently from that of the heterodonts (e.g., also by the Dreissenidae, Arcacea, Myacea, Adesmacea).

Some previous attempts at classifying pelecypods by shell structure are:

HATCHETT (1799) divided sea-shells into porcellaneous and nacreous types, although his inclusion of oysters in the latter category would seem to indicate a broader usage of this term than that of most later authors. This division was accepted by GRAY (1833) and emphasized by DOUVILLÉ (1912).

CARPENTER (1844) and CAYEUX (1915) failed to classify pelecypods on the basis of shell structure, but listed the types of structure they observed.

Rose's (1858) mineralogical classification distinguishes between purely calcitic shells, those with both calcite and aragonite, and those composed entirely of aragonite.

BOCGILD (1930) pointed out that almost all of the anisomyaria are partly or totally calcitic and almost all isomyaria are aragonitic and that the shell structure of these two major groups is almost entirely distinct.

Comparison of Pelecypoda with other Mollusca

The three calcareous palliostracal layers of the pelecypods are usually rather clearly recognizable in the other classes of mollusks (fig. 3 A-E).

The layer distribution in uncoiled or little coiled gastropod genera such as *Haliotis* appears to represent the simplest possible arrangement of the calcareous layers of the palliostracum, with all three present and one above the other (fig. 3 A). As the «Archetype Mollusk» had a similar shape it seems likely that this may also represent the primitive arrangement for mollusks as a whole. The structure of *Neopilina* (GRASSÉ, p. 1791) confirms this hypothesis. In coiled gastropods, the ectostracum is absent on the dorsal side of the whorl, where it contacts the preceding whorl.

The cephalopods (fig. 3B) have modified the hypothetical primitive shell layer arrangement but little. The principal change is that the endostracum is not solid but split up into a series of plates (the septa) separated by air-filled spaces (the camerae). This is a result of intermittent secretion and outward movement of the animal within the shell. The siphuncular structures may represent further modifications of the endostracal pattern. In coiled exogastric shells, moreover, the ectostracum is as in coiled gastropods largely absent from the dorsal portion of the whorl. It may finally be remarked that the «annulus layer» of *Nautilus* and other cephalopods is a pallial myostracum.

The layer arrangement of the scaphopod shell has likewise undergone little modification from that of the hypothetical primitive arrangement. The principal difference consists of the formation of the apical opening (termed anal orifice) which increases in size by successive truncation of the shell during growth of the animal, so that all three major layers are exposed on its apical-marginal region (fig. 3 C).

The modification of pelecypod shell layer arrangement from that of primitive mollusks results from the bilobate mantle (fig.3E). Instead of one center of secretion there are two and each valve's layering arrangement resembles that in primitive gastropods. In the hinge region, however, the ectostracum is limited to the apical region and the hypertrophied mesostracum tends to form a «secondary margin».

In the chitons, the shell layer arrangement departs most from the presumed primitive condition, and any homology between the layers of the chitons and those of other mollusks is obscure. The tegmentum is here tentatively regarded as equivalent to the ectostracum, and the articulamentum seems to include equivalents of both mesostracum and endostracum (fig.3D). «Layer e» of BOGGILD (1930, p.297) appears to be the endostracum and is composed of very regular crossed-lamellae, while «layers b, c and d» (id. p. 297) may represent the mesostracum.

	Mesendost	racum Mesecto	stracum
· · · · ·	Endostracum	Mesostracum	Ectostracum
I. Nacro-prism	atic group		
Nuculidae	Nacreous	Nacreous, with prismatic fast-growt sublayers.	Prismatic h
Solemyidae	Nacreous	Prismat	ic
Pteriacea	Nacreous	Apparently partly prismatic, partly nacreous.	Prismatic
Mytilidae <i>Mytilus</i> 1 <i>edulis</i>	Nacreous	Prismat flabellat stages, t homoge	ic, with occasional te structures in early cending to become neous in latest stages.
Mytilus californianus	Nacreous outer sublayer, flabellate inner sublayer.	Mostly become stages.	flabellate, tending to homogeneous in late
Volsella capax	Prismatic	Nacreous	Mostly homogeneous with a few prisms and flabellate structures.
Septifer bifurcatus	Alternation sublayers of prisms, nacre and occasionally conchiolin.	Prismatic fast-growth sublayer nacreous slow-growt sublayers, distributed as in <i>Acila</i> .	Prismatic 's, h
Lithophaga plumula	Alternation sublayers of prisms, nacre and conchiolir	Nacreous 1.	Granulated
Unionidae	Nacreous		Prismatic
Trigoniidae	Nacreous		Prismatic

Table of microstructure distribution in some pelecypod families

 1 A very thin nacreous sublayer is generally present in the innermost mesectostracum.

0	Mesendostracum Mesectostracum		
	Endostracum	Mesostracum	Ectostracum
Periplomatidae	Alternation sublayers of nacre	Nacreous	Prismatic
	and prisms.		
Pandoridae	Nacreous		Prismatic
Lyonsiidae	Nacreous		Grained
II. Foliated gro	oup		с. Т.
Pectinidae ²	Foliated, occasionally partly	Foliated, rarely with some	Foliated
	crossed-lamellar.	crossed-lamellar area	s.
Spondylidae ³	Prismatic crossed-lamellar, or with both structures.	Crossed-lamellar	Foliated
Limidae	Prismatic	Crossed-lamellar	Foliated
Anomiidae Pododesmus macroschismus	Crossed-lamellar	Outer foliated sublayer, inner crossed-lamellar sublayer.	Foliated in left valve, prismatic in right valve.
Anomia	Crossed-lamellar	Foliated	

peruviana

² Crossed-lamellae are present in the endostracum and mesostracum of a number of pectinid stocks. In *Amussium japonicum* the outer half of the endostracum of both valves is crossed-lamellar and *Aequipecten circularis* shows a thinner crossed-lamellar sublayer. In *Euvola zigzag* and *Pecten vogdesi* the outer endostracum is crossed-lamellar only in the right valve, but the major auricular crurae of the left valve may also be crossed-lamellar. In *Amussium japonicum* the crurae of both valves may be crossed-lamellar. Crossed-lamellae probably also occur in other species, but as they are apt to be very indistinct, the extent of their distribution in some of the pectinids is difficult to ascertain.

³ The endostracum of the Spondylidae was observed to be prismatic in Spondylus cf. crassisquama and some individuals of S. sinensis; to include both prismatic and crossed-lamellar sublayers in S. pictorum, S. princeps, S. imperialis, S. ducalis and some individuals of S. sinensis; to be entirely crossed-lamellar in Plicatula gibbosa and Plicatula semicallata.

	5 (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1)	A CANA SERVICE		N 3. 7	
	Mesendostracum		Mesectostracum		
	Endostracum	Mesostra	cum	Ectostracum	
Placenta	Foliated		Foliated	L	
nanvracea					

Foliated

J. J. Oberling, Observations on some structural features of the pelecypod shell

III. Complex-lamellar group

Ostreidae

Foliated

Arcidae	Complex	Crossed-lamellar	
Lucinidae	Prismatic, with traces of complex structure.	Crossed-lamellar	Prismatic
Tellinidae	Complex	Crossed-lamellar	Prismatic
Semelidae	Complex	Crossed-lamellar	Prismatic
Donacidae	Complex	Crossed-lamellar	Prismatic
Sanguinolariidae	Complex	Crossed-lamellar	Prismatic
Mactridae ⁴	Complex	Crossed-lamellar	Prismatic
Cardiidae ⁵	Complex	Crossed-lamellar, rarely with prismatic fast-growth sublaye	
Adacnidae	Complex	Crossed-lamellar	
Tridacnidae	Complex	Crossed-lamellar	
Carditidae	Complex	Crossed-l	amellar

⁴ In the inner portion of the mesostracum of the Mactridae, the first-order lamellae often tend to be inclined, rather than steeply reclined or vertical as in most other pelecypods of the complex-lamellar group. This tendency, while apparent in *Mactra* and *Spisula*, reaches its maximum in *Schizothaerus nuttallii* where the lamellae may incline more than 30° from the vertical (Pl. V, fig. 5). This orientation of the lamellae is correlated with their twisting about in the center of the layer. In some species (e.g., *Rangia sp.*) the lamellae in the inner mesostracum may be very indistinct.

⁵ All the Cardiidae observed show a crossed-lamellar mesectostracum, except *Clino-cardium* where the mesectostracum includes fibrillar fast-growth sublayers, and crossed-lamellar slow-growth sublayers which overlap in the inner portion of this combined layer to form a crossed-lamellar overlap sublayer (Pl. IV, fig. 9; Pl. VI, fig. 2).

39

Foliated in left valve,

prismatic in right

valve.

	Mesendostracum Mesectostracum			
6	Endostracum	Mesostracum	Ectostracum	
Veneridae ⁶	Complex to homogeneous.	Crossed-lamellar to homogeneous	Prismatic, crossed- lamellar or with both structures.	
Petricolidae	Complex	Crossed-lamellar	Prismatic	
Astartidae	Vaguely prismatic	Mostly homogeneous	Faintly crossed- lamellar.	
Chamidae	Complex	Crossed-lamellar		
Dreissenidae	?	Crossed-lamellar		

⁶ As Boccild (1930, p. 286–287) has shown, the structure of the Veneridae is highly variable. This variability concerns mostly the ectostracum. This layer is crossed-lamellar in the Circinae, Sunettinae, Pitarinae, Dosiniinae, Gemminae; in the Meretricinae it is crossed-lamellar but in *Tivela stultorum* the crossed-lamellation is very faint and the layer is almost homogeneous. In the Venerinae, the outer half of the ectostracum is fibrillar, the inner half crossed-lamellar. In the Tapetinae, this layer is fibrillar in all the specimens studied. In the Chioninae the ectostracal structure is highly variable, but this layer always shows some fibrillar structure in its outer portion: in *Chione s.s.*, the ectostracum is not usually clearly separable from the mesostracum; the outermost portion of the ectostracum is fibrillar, the main portion crossed-lamellar; the firstorder lamellae divide inwards about the the mesectostracal boundary into many fine lamellae. In Chione (Gnidiella), Securella, Protothaca grata, Protothaca fluctifraga, Mercenaria campechiensis, Anomalocardia subrugosa, the ectostracum is mostly fibrillar, with a few slow-growth crossed-lamellar wedges; it is distinctly separated from the mesostracum; the outermost mesostracum is distinctly crossed-lamellar. In the main Protothaca group (P. stamminea, P. tenerrima, P. laciniata, P. semidecussata), the ectostracum is entirely fibrillar and is distinctly separated from the mesostracum which tends to be entirely homogeneous; only in P. laciniata could a distinct crossed-lamellar sublayer be observed in the outer mesostracum. The genus Saxidomus, whose subfamiliar status appears doubtful to the author (KEEN, 1951, included it among the Pitarinae) shows the following structure distribution: ectostracum fibrillar, with crossed-lamellar slow-gowth sublayers; mesostracum crossed-lamellar; endostracum complex.

J. J. Oberling, Observations on some structural features of the pelecypod shell 41

Glossary

Additive ribbing. Ribbing or ribbing structures such as denticles, inner ribs, etc. that appear added onto the shell surface.

Adductor myostraca. Myostraca deposited in adductor muscle attachment areas.

- Alternation sublayers. Differentiated sublayers secreted alternately by the same mantle region.
- Beak. Apical or oldest portion of the shell with the prodissoconch at its apex.
- Combined layers. Two or more adjacent major shell layers of similar structure which appear to form one layer.
- Complex crossed-lamellar structure. Structure of more or less prismatic primary units themselves made up of second order lamellae radiating inwards from the axis of the primary unit.
- Complex structure. Complex crossed-lamellar structure in association with some prismatic or other structure.
- Composite ribbing. Ribbing composed of positionally related additive and non-additive components.
- Crossed-lamellar structure. Structure composed of first order lamellae which themselves are made up of second order lamellae arranged normally to the major surfaces of the first order lamellae and obliquely in respect to the minor surfaces. The direction of obliquity is reversed in successive first order lamellae.
- Denticle. Node-like projection on or near the shell periphery formed by additive deposition.
- Differentiated combined layer. A combined layer with structurally similar component layers which may be distinguished by coloration or other characters.
- Ectostracum. The outer major calcareous shell layer secreted by the mantle margin.
- Endostracum. The inner calcareous shell layer, secreted by the mantle within the area surrounded by the pallial and adductor muscle attachments.
- Fibrillar structure. Prismatic structure in which the prisms appear similar to threads or filaments.
- Flabellate structure. Structure composed of granule-like primary units which are in turn composed of radiating prisms.
- Flange. Keel-like projection on either side of a denticle.
- Foliated structure. Structure consisting of calcite leaves which usually can easily be separated from each other, and are generally slightly oblique to the growth planes.
- Grained structure. Structure composed of irregular granules.

Grooves. Radial depressions on the inner shell surface underneath and corresponding to external ribs.

- Growth lines. Lines formed by the intersection of growth planes with other planes and surfaces.
- Growth plane. A surface within the shell representing a former position of the depositional surface of the mantle.

- Growth sublayers. Alternation sublayers in which there is alternation of fast-growth and slow-growth sublayers.
- Heterochronous secretion. Secretion such that the periods of fast-growth and slowgrowth do not correspond on the apical and marginal sides of the pallial line.
- Hinge plate. An interior dorsal platform supporting the hinge structures, usually, if not always, composed of mesostracum.
- Homochronous secretion. Secretion such that the periods of fast-growth and slowgrowth correspond on both sides of the pallial line.
- Homogeneous structure. A structure wherein there is no recognizable pattern.
- Hypostracum. Name given to the inner layer or endostracum by THIELE (1893), PRASHAD (1928), etc.; or to the adductor myostracum by THIELE (1893), JAMESON (1912), etc.
- Inclined. Oblique outwards towards the periphery.

Indentation. Embayment of the shell margin between two denticles.

- Inner ribs. Radial elevations on the inner surface of the shell, not directly related to the outer ribbing.
- Internal ribs. Ribbing structures within the shell substance produced by peripheral or subperipheral denticles.

Interrib. A relatively small rib in an interspace.

Interspace. External radial depression between two ribs.

- Interspace area. Area of a transverse section of a composite-ribbed pelecypod that lies between the partitions of a denticle and inside an interspace.
- Layers. The major structural divisions of the molluscan shell. Each is deposited by a distinct part of the mantle, and is generally nearly parallel to the outer shell surface.
- Ligament. Portion of the connecting mechanism of the two valves of a pelecypod shell, external to the hinge plate and composed largely of conchiolin.

Lobate ribbing. Ribbing produced by lobations of the mantle margin.

Margin. The outermost zone of the marginal region of the shell, just beneath the outer surface.

Mesectostracum. A combined mesostracum and ectostracum.

Mesendostracum. A combined mesostracum and endostracum.

Mesostracum. The middle major calcareous shell layer, secreted by the mantle between the pallial muscle attachments and the zone secreting the ectostracum.

Myostracum. Deposits secreted within muscle attachment areas.

- Nacreous structure. Small, thin plates of aragonite alternating with thin films of conchiolin, and producing a nacreous luster.
- Non-additive ribbing. Ribbing produced directly by folds of lobations of the mantle margin, where the marginal region of the shell is non-reflected.
- Non-reflected marginal region. Marginal region in which the periphery of the shell coincides with the margin.

J.J. Oberling, Observations on some structural features of the pelecypod shell 43

Ossicle. Isolated calcareous plate within some pelecypod ligaments.

- Ostracum. 1. THIELE's (1893) designation for the outer 2 or for all 3 calcareous layers of the shell.
 - 2. NEWELL's (1937) designation of the whole shell within the periostracum.

Outer ribs. Radial elevations on the external surface of the shell.

- Overlap sublayer. Sublayer featuring the overlap, convergence and merging of growth sublayers, usually of slow-growth sublayers in areas of slow secretion.
- Pallial line. Actually a zone, often depressed, which is the attachment area of the pallial muscles on the inner shell surface.
- Pallial myostracum. Thin aragonitic layer deposited along the pallial «line».
- Partitions. Nearly vertical zones of translucent slow-growth deposits formed on the lateral flanks of the denticles.
- Periostracum. The outermost major shell layer, composed entirely of conchiolin, and secreted by the extreme margin of the mantle outside the zone secreting the ectostracum.

Periphery. Zone of the marginal region of the shell furthest removed from the apex.

- Plicate ribbing. Ribbing resulting directly from plications or folds of the mantle margin.
- Prismatic structure. Structure composed of polygonal prisms.

Reclined. Oblique inwards towards the periphery.

- Reflected marginal region. A marginal region in which the periphery is located inside the margin.
- Rib. Major radial or semi-radial elevation above the general surface of the shell, either inner or outer and excluding the teeth.
- Rib area. Area of a transverse section of a composite-ribbed pelecypod that lies between the partitions of two adjacent denticles and directly inside a rib.
- Ribbing. Continuous radial or semi-radial structures, excepting the teeth on the surface or within the shell.
- Ribbing structures. Internal modifications of the shell, especially the growth laminae, resulting from ribbing.
- Riblet. Minor radial elevation superimposed on rib or interspace.
- Ridge. Radial elevation on the inner shell surface underneath and corresponding to an interspace on the outer shell surface.
- Secondary partitions. Supernumerary partitions resulting from the presence of secondary flanges.
- Sublayers. Subdivisions of layers or combined layers of much less regular occurrence than the layers.
- Subperipheral region. Region located directly beneath or inside the periphery of the shell.
- Supraperipheral region. Region located directly above or outside the periphery of the shell.

Tubules. Small tubes originating at the inner shell surface and extending outwards. They are produced by the mantle surface.

Undifferentiated combined layer. Combined layer in which the component layers are indistinguishable.

Species examined¹

Family Nuculidae

Acila castrensis (Hinds); Acila packardi (Clark), Oligocene, Oregon.

Family Solemyidae

Solemya velum (Say), Connecticut; Solemya sp., no locality.

Family Pinnidae

Atrina sp., no locality; Pinna mutica (Reeve), no locality.

Family Pteriidae

Meleagrina margaritifera (Linnaeus), no locality.

Family Mytilidae

Mytilus edulis (Linnaeus); M. californianus (Conrad); Hormomya searnsi (Pilsbry and Raymond); Septifer bifurcatus (Conrad); Volsella capax (Conrad); Brachidontes demissus (Dillwyn); Botula falcata (Gould); Lithophaga plumula (Hanley).

Family Unionidae

Unio sp., no locality; Anodonta sp., no locality.

Family Trigoniidae

Trigonia (Neotrigonia) pectinata Lamarck, Australia.

Family Periplomatidae

Periploma planiusculum Sowerby.

Family Pandoridae

Pandora glacialis Leach, Northern Seas.

¹ Unless otherwise indicated, the species listed are represented by Recent specimens from the West Coast of North America. The species listed here have generally been sectioned or otherwise closely examined. Other species not listed here have been examined superficially.

44

J. J. Oberling, Observations on some structural features of the pelecypod shell 45

Family Lyonsiidae

Entodesma saxicola Baird; Lyonsia californica Conrad; Mytilimeria nuttallii Conrad.

Family Pectinidae

Chlamys hericius (Gould); C. hindsii (Carpenter); Patinopecten caurinus (Gould), Pliocene, California; P. coosensis (Shumard), Pliocene, Oregon; P. healeyi (Arnold), Pliocene, California; P. lohri (Hertein), Pliocene, California; P. yessoensis (Jay), Japan; Vertipecten perrini (Arnold), Miocene, California; Pecten bellus (Conrad), Pliocene, California; P. carrizoensis Arnold, Pliocene, California; P. coalingensis Arnold, Pliocene, California; P. maximus (Linnaeus), France; P. vogdesi Arnold; Euvola keepi (Arnold), Pliocene, California; E. zigzag (Linnaeus), Colombia; Lyropecten crassicardo (Conrad), Miocene, California; L. estrellanus (Conrad), Miocene, California; L. magnolia (Conrad), Miocene, California; L. miguelensis (Arnold), Miocene, California; L. subnodosus (Sowerby), Pleistocene, Gulf of California; L. terminus (Arnold), Miocene, California; Aequipecten circularis (Sowerby); A. gibbus (Linnaeus), no locality; A. latiauratus (Conrad); A. monotimeris (Conrad); A. raymondi (Clark), Miocene, California; Amussium japonicum (Gmelin), China.

Family Spondylidae

Spondylus pictorum Chemnitz; S. cf. crassisquama Lamarck, no locality; S. sp., Okinawa; Plicatula gibbosa Lamarck, Florida.

Family Limidae

Lima cf. scabra (Born), no locality; L. sp., no locality.

Family Anomiidae

Pododesmus macroschismus (Deshayes); Anomia peruviana d'Orbigny; Placenta papyracea (Lamarck), China.

Family Ostreidae

Ostrea lurida Carpenter; O. titan Conrad, Miocene, California; O. cf. vespertina Conrad, Pliocene, Gulf of California; O. virginica Gmelin, Delaware; Exogyra sp., Upper Cretaceous, Alabama.

Family Arcidae

Anadara grandis Broderip and Sowerby, Honduras; Anadara incongrua (Jay), no locality; A. montereyana (Osmont), Miocene, California; A. multicostata Sowerby; A. trilineata, Pliocene, California; Arca pacifica Sowerby, Central America; Barbatia reeviana (d'Orbigny), no locality; Noetia ponderosa (Jay), Florida; Glycimeris coalingensis Arnold, Pliocene, California; Glycimeris inaequalis (Sowerby), Panama; G. major Stanton, Paleocene, California; G. pilosus (Linnaeus), Mediterranean Sea. G. septentrionalis (Middendorff); Cucullaea mathewsonii (Gabb), Cretaceous, California.

Family Lucinidae

Lucina (Loripinus) edentula (Chemnitz), Florida; Codakia orbicularis (Linnaeus), Florida; Divaricella eburnea (Reeve); Lucina californica Conrad; L. nuttallii Conrad.

Family Erycinidae

Kellia laperousii (Deshayes); Lasea rubra (Montagu), Europe.

Family Tellinidae

Macoma nasuta (Conrad); Macoma secta (Conrad); Tellina bodegensis Hinds.

Family Semelidae

Semele decisa (Conrad); S. rupicola Dall; Cumingia lamellosa Sowerby.

Family Donacidae

Donax asper Hanley, no locality; Iphigenia altior (Sowerby), Panama.

Family Sanguinolariidae

Heterodonax bimaculata (Linnaeus); Sanguinolaria nuttallii Conrad; Tagelus californianus (Conrad).

Family Mactridae

Mactra californica Conrad; Pseudocardium densatum (Conrad), Pliocene, California; Rangia sp., Pliocene, California; Schizothaerus nuttallii (Conrad); Spisula alaskana Dall.

Family Cardiidae

Trachycardium (Trachycardium) consors (Sowerby); T. (T.) isocardia (Linnaeus), Florida; T. (T.) muricatum (Linnaeus), Florida; T. (T.) senticosum (Sowerby); T. (Dallocardia) quadrigenarium (Conrad); Mexicardia procerum (Sowerby); Papyridea aspersa (Sowerby), Panama; Americardium biangulatum (Broderip and Sowerby); Nemocardium linteum (Conrad), Eocene, California; Laevicardium elatum (Sowerby); L. substriatum (Conrad); Cerastoderma edulis (Linnaeus), Mediterranean Sea; Clinocardium blandum (Gould); C. californiense (Deshayes); C. coosensis (Dall), Pliocene, Oregon; C. meekianum (Gabb), Pliocene, California; C. nuttallii (Conrad); Serripes groenlandicus (Brugière), Arctic Ocean; Dinocardium robustum (Solander), Texas; Cardium costatum Linnaeus, West Africa.

Family Adacnidae

Didacna trigonoides (Pallas), Iran.

Family Tridacnidae

Hippopus sp., Solomon Islands; Tridacna sp., no locality.

J. J. Oberling, Observations on some structural features of the pelecypod shell 47

Family Carditidae

Cardita ventricosa Gould; Cardita sp., Sumatra; Glans affinis (Sowerby); Venericardia laticostata (Sowerby); Venericardia cf. aragonia, Eocene, Oregon; Venericardia cf. hornii (Gabb), Eocene, California.

Veneridae

Venus verrucosa Linnaeus, Algeria; Circe gibba (Lamarck), Pacific Ocean; Gafrarium divaricatum (Chemnitz), Philippine Islands; Sunetta scripta (Linnaeus), China; Grateloupia cytheriopsis (Conrad), Eocene, Alabama; Meretrix meretrix (Linnaeus), Japan; Tivela stultorum (Mawe); Amiantis callosa (Conrad); Macrocallista aequore (Gabb), Eocene, Alabama; M. conradiana (Gabb), Eocene, California; Pitar californianus stewartvillensis Clark and Woodford, Paleocene, California; P. lupanaria (Lesson); P. vulneratus (Broderip), no locality. Dosinia discus Reeve, Florida; D. ponderosa (Gray); Gemma gemma Totten, Connecticut; Compsomyax subdiaphana (Carpenter); Paphia papilionacea (Lamarck), China; Psephidia lordi (Baird); Tapes malabarica (Chemnitz), China; Ruditapes decussata (Linnaeus), France; Anomalocardia subrugosa (Sowerby); Chione (Chione) cancellata (Linnaeus), Florida; C. (C.) succincta (Valenciennes); C. (Gnidiella) gnidia (Broderip and Sowerby); Humilaria kennerlyi (Carpenter in Reeve); Mercenaria campechiensis (Gmelin), Texas; Protothaca laciniata (Carpenter); P. semidecussata (Deshayes); P. staminea (Conrad); P. tenerrima (Carpenter); P. fluctifraga (Sowerby); P. grata (Say); Securella securis (Schumard), Pliocene, California; Irus lamellifer (Conrad); Saxidomus giganteus (Deshayes); S. nuttallii (Conrad); Irus irus (Linnaeus), France.

Family Petricolidae

Petricola carditoides (Conrad).

Family Astartidae Astarte borealis (Schumacher), Northern Seas.

Family Crassatellidae

Crassatellites digueti Lamy; C. grandis (Gabb), Eocene, California.

Family Panopeidae Panope generosa Gould, no locality.

Family Chamidae

Chama florida Lamarck, no locality; Chama pellucida Broderip; Chama sp., no locality.

Family Dreissenidae Dreissenia polymorpha (Pallas), Europe.

Bibliography

- BERNARD, F. (1895—1897): Notes sur le développement et la morphologie de la coquille chez les lamellibranches. Bull. Soc. Géol. France, sér. 3; première note (hétérodontes), vol. 23, pp. 104—154, 1895; deuxième note (taxodontes), vol. 24, pp. 54—82, 1896; troisième note (anisomyaires), vol. 24, pp. 412—449, 1896; quatrième et dernière note, vol. 25, pp. 559—566, 1897.
- BERRY, E. W. (1929): Paleontology. 392 pp. New York: McGraw-Hill.
- BIEDERMANN, W. (1914): Physiologie der Stütz- und Skelettsubstanzen. Winterstein. Handbuch der Vergleichenden Physiologie, vol. 3, part 1, pp. 318-1188.
- BOCGILD, O. B. (1930): The shell structure of the mollusks. D.Kgl.Danske Vidensk. Selsk. Skrifter, Naturvidensk. og Mathem. Afd., ser.9, vol.2, no 2, pp.235—325, pls.I—XV.
- BOWERBANK, J. S. (1844): On the structure of the shells of molluscous and conchiferous animals. Trans. Microsc. Soc. London, vol. 1, pp. 123–152, pls. XIV–XVIII.
- CARPENTER, W. (1844 and 1847): On the microscopic structure of shells. Br. Assoc. Report; 1844, pp. 1-24, pls. I-XX; 1847, pp. 93-134, pls. I-XX.
- CAYEUX, M.L.: Introduction à l'étude pétrographique des roches sédimentaires, Mém. pour servir à l'explication de la carte géologique détaillée de la France, pp.469 à 484, pls.XLVIII—L and figs.1—4 of pl.LI.
- CHAVAN, A. (1943): Observation sur la structure des côtes et sur les impressions musculaires de Glycimeris. Compt. Rend. Som., Soc. Géol. de France, no 9, pp. 90-91.
- COKER, R.E., et al. (1919): Natural history and propagation of fresh-water mussels. U.S. Bureau Fish., Bull., vol. 37, pp. 79–117.
- DAKIN, W.J. (1909): Pecten. Liverpool Marine Biol. Com. Mem. XVII, in Liverpool Biol. Soc. Proc. and Trans., vol. 23, pp. 333-468, 9 pls.
- DALL, W. H. (1895): Contributions to the Tertiary fauna of Florida. A new classification of the pelecypods, Wagner Free Inst. Trans., vol. 3, part 3, pp. 486-570.
- DAVIES, A. M. (1935): Tertiary faunas, vol.1: The composition of Tertiary faunas. 406 pp. London: Thomas Murby and Co.
- DESHAYES, G.-P. (1843-1850): Traité élémentaire de conchyliologie. Vol. II, 384 pp. Paris: Crochard et C.
- DOUVILLÉ, H. (1912): Classification des lamellibranches. Soc. Géol. de France, Bull., ser. 4, vol. 12, pp. 419-467.
- FIELD, I. A. (1921): Biology and economic value of the sea-mussel Mytilus edulis. U.S. Dept. Commerce, Bur. Fish., Bull., vol. 38, pp. 127-259.
- FISCHER, P. (1887): Manuel de conchyliologie et de paléontologie conchyliologique. 1370 pp., 23 pls. Paris: A. Lahure.
- Fox, D., and COE, W. (1943): Biology of the California sea-mussel (Mytilus californianus). Jour. Exper. Zool., vol. 93, no 2, pp. 205-248.

J. J. Oberling, Observations on some structural features of the pelecypod shell 49

GRASSÉ; P.-P. (1960): Traité de Zoologie. T.V., Fasc. II.

- GRAVE, B.H. (1911): Anatomy and physiology of the wing shell, Atrina rigida. Bur. Fisheries, vol.29, pp.409-439.
- GRAY, J.E. (1893): Some observations of the economy of molluscous animals, and on the structure of their shells. Philos. Trans., 1833, part 1, pp. 771-819.
- GUTSELL, J.S. (1930): Natural history of the bay scallop. U.S. Dept. Commerce, Bur. Fish., Bull., vol. 46, pp. 569–632.
- HATCHETT, C. (1799): Experiments and observations on shell and bone. Royal Soc. London, Phil. Trans., vol. 89, pp. 315-334.
- HERTLEIN, L. G., and STRONG, A. M. (1948): Eastern Pacific expeditions of the New York zoological society, XXXIX. Mollusks from West Coast of Mexico and Central America, part VI. Zoologica, vol. 33, part 4, pp. 1–198, 2 pls.
- IHERING, H.v. (1874): Über die Entwicklungsgeschichte der Najaden. Naturforsch. Gesell. Leipzig, Sitzungsber., no 2, pp. 3-8.
- JAMESON, H.L. (1912): The Ceylon pearl oyster. Zool.Soc. London Proc. no 22, pp. 260-356.
- KEEN, A. M. (1951) a): Outline of a proposed classification of the pelecypod family Cardiidae. Minutes Conch. Club, S. California, Minutes III, pp. 6–8.
- (1951) b): Outline of a proposed classification of the pelecypod family Veneridae, Minutes Conch. Club, S. California, Minutes 113, pp. 1—10.
- KORRINGA, P. (1951): On the nature and function of «chalky» deposits in the shell of Ostrea edulis. California Aca. Sci., Proc., series 4, vol. 27, no 5, pp. 133–158.
- LOPPENS, K. (1920): Note sur la composition chimique et la formation des coquilles chez les mollusques. Ann. de la Soc. Roy. Zool. et Malacol. Belgique, vol. 51, pp. 75 à 90.
- LUCAS, G. (1952): Etude microscopique et pétrographique de la coquille des lamellibranches. In PIVETEAU, J., Traité de Paléontologie, vol. 2, pp. 246-260. Paris: Masson et C.
- MANIGAULT, P. (1939): Recherches sur le calcaire chez les mollusques. Inst. Océanographique, Ann., vol. 18, pp. 331-426.
- McNEIL, F. S. (1937): Species and genera of Tertiary Noetiinae. U.S. Geol. Surv., Prof. Pap. 189—A, pp. 1—49, pls. I—VI.
- MERY, M. (1710): Remarques faites sur la moule des estangs. Acad. Roy. Sciences, Mem., pp. 408-426, pl. IX.
- MITCHELL, H.D. (1935): The microscopic structure of the shell and ligament of Cardium (Cerastoderma) corbis Martyn. Jour. Morphology, vol. 58, no 1, pp. 211-220.
- MOYNIER DE VILLEPOIX, R. (1892): Recherches sur la formation et l'accroissement de la coquille des mollusques. Jour. de l'Anatomie, pp. 461—518, 582—674, pls. XIX and XX, XXII and XXIII.

- NEWELL, N. D. (1937): Late Paleozoic pelecypods: Pectinacea. State Geol. Surv. Kansas, vol. 10, part 1, pp. 1–123, pls. I–XX.
- (1942): Late Paleozoic pelecypods: Mytilacea. State Geol. Surv. Kansas, vol. 10, part 2, pp. 1—115, pls. 1—15.
- OBERLING, J.J. (1955): Shell structure of West American Pelecypoda. Journ. Wash. Acad. Sci., vol. 45, pp. 128-130.
- OWEN, G., TRUEMAN, R., and YONGE, C. M. (1953): The ligament in the Lamellibranchia. Nature, vol. 171, no 4341, pp. 73-75.
- PELSENEER, P. (1920): A propos de la formation et de la composition chimique de la coquille des mollusques. Ann. de la Soc. Roy. Zoologique et Malacologique de Belgique, vol. 51, pp. 70-74.
- PRASHAD, B. (1928): The mantle and the shell of the Viviparidae. Indian Mus. Mem., vol. 8, no 4, pp. 253-319, pls. 20-24.
- REAUMUR, R.-E. F. DE (1709): De la formation et de l'accroissement des coquilles des animaux tant terrestres qu'aquatiques, soit de mer soit de rivière. Acad. Roy. des Sciences, Mem. pp. 364-400, pls. XIV-XV.
- RIVERA, R. (1953): Pleistocene mollusks from Ecuador and Peru. Conch. Club of S. California, Min. 129, pp. 5–15.
- Rose, G. (1858): Über die heteromorphen Zustände der Kohlensauren Kalkerde. II: Vorkommen des Aragonits und Kalkspaths in der organischen Natur. Abhand. der Kön. Akad. Wissen. Berlin, pp. 63–111.
- SCHENCK, H.G. (1934): Literature on the shell structure of pelecypods. Bull. Musée Roy. d'Hist. Nat. de Belgique, vol. 10, no. 34, pp. 1-20.
- SOOT-RYEN, T. (1951): Antarctic Pelecypods. Norwegian Antarctic Exped. 1927–1928, no 32, pp. 1–46.

STORER, T. I. (1942): General Zoology. 798 pp., New York: McGraw-Hill.

- THIELE, J. (1893): Beiträge zur Kenntnis der Mollusken. II: Über die Molluskenschale. Zeitschr. für Wiss., vol. 55, pp. 220–251, 2 pls.
- TULLBERC, T. (1881): Studien über den Bau und das Wachstum des Hummerpanzers und Molluskenschalen. Kong. Svenska. Vet. Akad. Handl. Stockholm, vol. 19, no 3, pp. 1–57, pls. I–XII.
- WEYMOUTH, F.W. (1923): Life history and growth of the Pismo clam. California Bur. Commercial Fish., Bull., no 7, pp. 1–20.
- WRIGLEY, A. (1946): Observations on the structure of lamellibranch shells. Proc. Malacol. Soc. London, Proc., vol. 27, part. 1, pp. 1–19.
- YONGE, C. M. (1939): The protobranchiate Mollusca; a functional interpretation of their structure and evolution. Phil. Trans. Roy. Soc. London, ser. B, vol. 230, pp. 79-147.
- (1952): Form and habit in Pinna cornea Gmelin. Phil. Trans. Roy. Soc. London, ser. B, vol. 237, pp. 335-374.

Plate I

- Fig. 1 Patinopecten caurinus (Gould). Inner ventral view of the shell (x0,3) showing outline of plicate ribbing and inside it the ridges and grooves of the inner shell surface. On all the plates arrows point marginally.
- Fig. 2 Megathura crenulata (Sowerby). Dorsal-marginal view (x0,5). A gastropod with distinct peripheral denticles.
- Fig. 3 Trachycardium (Dallocardia) quadrigenarium (Conrad). Inner view of anterior-ventral margin of shell (x0,5), showing narrow, excavate denticles with pointed tips.
- Fig. 4 Trachycardium (Dallocardia) quadrigenarium (Conrad). Marginal and innermarginal view of the ventral shell marginal region (x 0,5) showing the composite ribbing with narrow, excavate denticles and spines on top of the ribs.
- Fig. 5 Cardium costatum Linnaeus. Inner surface near marginal region (x 0,5) showing broad, excavate denticles. Peripherally to the grooves elongate notches open into the cavities of the ribs.
- Fig. 6 Protothaca staminea (Conrad). Marginal-exterior view of the marginal region (x2), showing two sets of denticles, subperipheral and supraperipheral, that are positionally unrelated. The last is continuous with the outer ribbing.
- Fig. 7 Venericardia laticostata (Sowerby). Transverse section across a rib (x10). The outer (dark) layer is the ectostracum, the inner the mesostracum. Concentric pattern of growth lines in the «center of the rib» results from a cavity in the marginal face of the groove deposits as shown in Pl. V, fig. 8. Short partitions appear only near the mesectostracal boundary where a more or less rectangular structure is present. Mesostracal tubules show poorly here.
- Fig. 8 Venericardia laticostata (Sowerby). Longitudinal section near marginal region (x15). Ectostracum in upper right portion of section, mesostracum in lower left. Tubules are visible in the mesostracum.
- Fig. 9 Venericardia laticostata (Sowerby). Marginal-inner view of the ventral marginal region (x3). Denticles with low, narrow bulbous marginal segment and broad, raised planate main segment. Deposits in the indentations with a vertical marginal surface and a planate inner surface.
- Fig. 10 Venericardia laticostata (Sowerby). Marginal-inner view of the ventral marginal region (x7). The squarish main segments of the denticles show very distinct secondary flanges (only those to the right of the denticles appear in this figure). The secondary flanges originate on the flanks of the primary flanges and «curling upward» eventually reach the lateral portion of the denticular summit, thus forming with the primary flanges hook-shaped structures. The secondary flanges give rise to the secondary partitions, such as in Pl. V, fig. 7.
- Fig. 11 Glycymeris sp. Inner view of shell marginal region (x3) showing the denticles. These are composed of a narrow marginal segment (at top of figure) and a wide main segment, the latter of which is itself composed of a raised and longitudinally convex marginal portion and an excavate apical portion.

Mitteilungen der Naturforschenden Gesellschaft in Bern

- Fig. 12 Septifer bifurcatus (Conrad). Longitudinal section (x30) showing densely tubulated zones in the endostracum.
- Fig. 13 Lyonsia saxicola Baird. Longitudinal section (x 30). Ectostracum granular (black in figure) and below this both the mesostracum and endostracum are nacreous. The growth lines of the two inner layers meet at an angle. The tubules are restricted to the two inner layers and are markedly sinuous.
- Fig. 14 Codakia orbicularis (Linnaeus). Longitudinal section (x15), showing the three major layers and the serrate mesectostracal boundary; some endostracal tubules may be observed.

Plate II

- Fig. 1 Anadara trilineata (Conrad). Longitudinal section (x 30) of endostracum, showing tubules, growth lines and, vaguely, the complex structure.
- Fig. 2 Noetia ponderosa (Say). Longitudinal section (x15) showing crossed-lamellar mesectostracum (dark) and complex endostracum (light). The tubules in the endostracum are more or less perpendicular to the growth-lines, their extensions in the mesectostracum being perpendicular to the base of that combined layer. The endostracal portions of the tubules are wider than the mesectostracal portions and are sinuous.
- Fig. 3 Spondylus pictorum Chemnitz. View of the inner surface of the endostracum (x 12) showing the tubular openings and the prism outlines. The tubules are located mostly between the prisms and are less numerous than the prisms.
- Fig. 4 Anadara multicostata (Sowerby). View of the inner surface of the endostracum (x 6) showing the tubular openings arranged in rows. The rows do not positionally correspond to the ribs but are situated on slightly raised ridges (muscle attachments?) of the endostracum. Here a few tubules appear between the rows. Closer to the pallial line tubules occur only on the ridges, while apically from the area figured the tubules are very irregularly distributed.
- Fig. 5 Meleagrina margaritifera (Linnaeus). Tangential section of the prismatic layer (x25). The tubules are all located within the prisms and there are many tubules for each prism.
- Fig. 6 Volsella capax (Conrad). Tangential section of the endostracum (x 30). The tubules are almost all located between the prisms and there are more tubules than prisms.
- Fig. 7 Mytilus californianus Conrad. Longitudinal section through endostracum (x 25) showing some flabellae.

Fig. 8 Panope generosa Gould. Outer surface of shell with most of the periostracum removed (x4) showing irregular «beaded ribbing» and oblique riblets which may form cross-like patterns and are composed of more or less fused «beads».

Fig. 9 Lyropecten terminus Arnold. Transverse section across most of a rib (x5) showing interlocking structure in the center of the rib area.

52

J. J. Oberling, Observations on some structural features of the pelecypod shell 53

- Fig. 10 Semele decisa (Conrad). Longitudinal section across part of the ectostracum (x 30) showing complex, fan-wise arrangements of the fibrillae.
- Fig. 11 Aequipecten circularis (Sowerby). Transverse section (x 4,1) showing distinct rib and interspace areas, slightly oblique partitions, and in each rib area two stacks of folia outwardly convex which meet in the center of the area along an interlocking suture.

Plate III

- Fig. 1 Lyropecten estrellanus (Conrad). Transverse section from peel (x2). Both ribs and interribs present and two sets of up-arching folia in both rib and interspace areas, the sets of each pair meeting in an interlocking suture.
- Fig. 2 Aequipecten circularis (Sowerby). Longitudinal section from peel (x3).
 En = Endostracum; MeEc = Mesectostracum; AdMy = Adductor myostracum; a = thin crossed-lamellar sublayer at the bottom of the mesectostracum.
- Fig. 3 Pecten vogdesi Arnold. Transverse section of left valve from peel (x3) showing angulated patterns of outer mesectostracum (light) and partitions (p).
- Fig. 4 Patinopecten caurinus (Gould). Transverse section of left valve from peel (x 3). The bands of alternately reclined and inclined folia are very prominent here, with no intermediate «indistinct» zones.
- Fig. 5 Pecten vogdesi (Arnold). Transverse polished section, by reflected light (x 3) across two ribs and an interspace showing the complex angular structures of the outer mesectostracum, the white inverted commas on the sides of rib areas, the bands of alternately inclined and reclined folia in the inner mesectostracum (light) separated from each other by zones with indistinct structure (black). The white inverted comma on the right side of the left rib is the most regularly developed in this figure.
- Fig. 6 Pecten vogdesi (Arnold). Horizontal rough section, by reflected light (x 6) showing twisting of the folia.
- Fig. 7 Pecten vogdesi (Arnold). Inner surface of shell near marginal region, by reflected light (x 6), including in the upper portion of the figure the bases of three denticles, the two white areas in the upper right portion being the areas where the inverted commas seen in Fig. 5 are secreted. The bands of alternately inclined and reclined folia in the inner mesectostracum are reflected on this inner surface by systems of white curving lines. These lines appear to represent a continuous counter-clockwise rotation pattern by sources moving at the same time in a marginal direction.
- Fig. 8 Aequipecten circularis (Sowerby). Inner surface of shell along the margin, by reflected light (x 7,6). The zigzag lines within the grooves on each side of the central denticle correspond to the shifting boundaries between the sets of folia in each half of the grooves. The shifting of the boundaries between the two sets produce an interlocking suture. The folia near the tips of the den-

ticles are very irregular, as are the outer mesectostracal folia in other pectinids. Near the bases of the denticles may be seen curving lines, much as in *Pecten vogdesi*.

Plate IV

- Fig. 1 Botula falcata (Gould). Longitudinal section (x49). The upper dark layer is the periostracum; below this, the granulated ectostracum shows coarse tubulelike structures; both the non-tubulated mesostracum and the tubulated endostracum appear below the ectostracum.
- Fig. 2 Acila castrensis (Hinds). Longitudinal section of marginal region of shell (x49) showing periostracum (black), prismatic ectostracum and mesostracum composed of nacre with very faint prismatic wedges in its outer portion.
- Fig. 3 Sondylus sp. Longitudinal section (x 7) showing the foliated layer (upper $\frac{2}{3}$ of section), below this the crossed-lamellar portion of the mesostracum (dark), the pallial myostracum (white) and the endostracum (gray). In the outer portion of the foliated layer the folia are more or less parallel to the trend of the layer. The gently inclined lines in that layer are growth lines, the dark reclined lines are tubules. In the innermost portion of the foliated layer the folia are wory steeply inclined and in the inner layers of the shell the tubules are more or less vertical. Tubules show poorly in the very opaque outer portions of the shell.
- Fig. 4 Spondylus sp. Longitudinal section (x45) showing tubules running through the endostracum (dark gray in lower portion of figure), the pallial myostracum (light central portion of figure), and the crossed-lamellar inner mesectostracum (dark upper left portion of figure). Note widening of tubules at the endomyostracal boundary.
- Fig. 5 Spondylus sp. Inner surface, crossed-lamellar layer. The first-order lamellae are in many cases interrupted and their shape suddenly altered where tubules (black dots) occur (x8).
- Fig. 6 Semele decisa (Conrad). Vertical view of the marginal region (x4) showing irregular denticulation with pronounced bead-like denticles on the top portion of this region.
- Fig. 7 Semele decisa (Conrad). Outer surface (x4,6) showing highly irregular «beaded ribbing» corresponding to the irregular denticulation of fig.6.
- Fig. 8 Trachycardium (Dallocardia) quadrigenarium (Conrad). Transverse polished section, etched with acid, by reflected light (x4,8) showing ribbing structures. Slow-growth laminae in relief, fast-growth laminae depressed. The conspicuous paired downwardly diverging depressions are the fast-growth «inverted commas» deposited on the summits of the flanges. The partitions are the ridges bordering these depressions on their rib-facing sides. Note the strong obliquity of the secondary partitions, which are continuous with the steeply oblique lower ends of the primary partitions.

J. J. Oberling, Observations on some structural features of the pelecypod shell 55

Fig. 9 Clinocardium nuttallii (Conrad). Longitudinal section (x 35). Outer mesectostracum (dark) fibrillar, inner portion crossed-lamellar. The mesendostracal boundary shows up vaguely as a slightly oblique line about ¹/₃ of the way down into the light lower portion of the figure. The endostracum is complex.

Plate V

- Fig. 1 Trachycardium (Dallocardia) quadrigenarium (Conrad). Outer surface of the shell along the posterior ventral margin (x1,4) showing «additive» spines.
- Fig. 2 Mexicardia procerum (Sowerby). Inner surface of shell in marginal region (x2) showing denticles, primary flanges (1) and secondary flanges (2).
- Fig. 3 Trachycardium (Trachycardium) consors (Sowerby). Outer surface of the shell along the posterior ventral margin (x1,4). Spines or imbrications not reflected.
- Fig.4 Trachycardium (Trachycardium) consors (Sowerby). Outer surface of the shell along the anterior ventral margin (x1,4). Spines or imbrications reflected.
- Fig. 5 Schizothaerus nuttallii (Conrad). Longitudinal section (x15,6) showing the ectostracum (uppermost left of figure), the reclined «crossed-lamellae» of the outer mesostracum which bend sharply near the middle of the layer to become markedly inclined in the inner portion of the layer; where the lamellae bend in the middle of the mesostracum they show a very irregular twisted and tangled pattern.
- Fig. 6 Anadara sp. Radial section of the marginal half of the shell, mostly mesectostracum. Dark ²/₃ of shell to the right actually opaque, due to presence of tubulation. Boundary of dark region steeply oblique, almost vertical, corresponds to outer ends of tubules in mesectostracum. Pallial line on lower surface of shell, at limit of light and dark regions: endostracum represented here by a thin zone (not clearly visible) along lower shell surface to right of pallial line.
- Fig. 7 Venericardia laticostata (Sowerby). Transverse section through the outer mesostracum in the region of the boundary between a denticle and an indentation (x 30). The curving, narly vertical clear zones near the center of the figure are partitions; an upper sigmoid primary partition, with a secondary partition originating from the first about 2/3 of the way down from its upper extremity and curving widely to the left and around the base of the primary partition. To the left of the partitions is the rib area, to the right the interspace area.
- Fig. 8 Cardita sp. Inner surface view of the marginal region (x8). The vertical marginal surface of the deposits in the grooves show very distinct depressions.

Plate VI

- Fig. 1 Trachycardium consors (Sowerby). Transverse section from peel (x5) showing distinct rib and interspace areas. The growth laminae show clearly in the center of the rib areas, the dark bands being the slow-growth laminae, the light bands the fast-growth laminae. The conspicuous radiating lines on the sides of the rib areas are not laminae but first-order lamellae. The partitions delimiting the rib and interspace areas are very oblique. The inverted commas appear on the interspace side of the partitions.
- Fig. 2 Trachycardium consors (Sowerby). Vertical, almost longitudinal section from peel (x10) showing mesectostracum and spines. The complex pattern of the growth lines results from the ribbing structures being transected at a low angle. The first-order lamellae are almost horizontal in the upper half of the section.
- Fig. 3 Trachycardium consors (Sowerby). Vertical, almost longitudinal section (x 10) showing the crossed-lamellar mesectostracum (upper 1/2 of figure) and the complex endostracum with typical chevron-shaped patterns. The white oblique line in the mesectostracum is a partition, the area to its left a rib area, that to its right an interspace area.
- Fig. 4 Protothaca staminea (Conrad). Hypotype no. 36284. Longitudinal section (x 26). Ectostracum thick, fibrillar, with growth lines therein slightly reflected, but also tending to show a subperipheral inflection (especially in central portion of figure). Mesostracum mostly homogeneous, including about half the shell thickness below the ectostracum in the figure. Endostracum with an indistinct complex structure.
- Fig. 5 Chama echinata Broderip. Inner surface of shell (x1,4) showing dendritic penetrations of the endostracum into the muscle scars and doubling of the pallial line.
- Fig. 6 Chama pellucida Broderip. Longitudinal section (x49) showing funnel-tipped tubules in endostracum and (in upper part of section) a portion of the mesostracum.
- Fig. 7 Chama pellucida Broderip. Longitudinal section (x100) showing some funnel-tipped tubules. The second tubule from the left bifurcates near its upper extremity.
- Fig. 8 Trachycardium consors (Sowerby). Transverse section from peel (x4). The white vertical band in the middle of the rib area is caused by the rapid filling of the groove or indentation.

Plate I



Plate 11





Plate IV



Plate V









Figure 1

In this figure and the following, AdMy = Adductor myostracum; Ec = Ectostracum; En = Endostracum; Me = Mesostracum; MeEc = Mesectostracum; MeEn = Mesendostracum; PaMy = Pallial Myostracum; Pe = Periostracum. Whenever necessary the marginal direction is indicated by an arrow. All drawings diagrammatic unless otherwise indicated.

- A. Chione succincta (Valenciennes). Longitudinal section near margin (x4) showing distribution of crossed-lamellae (figured as reclined lines). The outermost zone of the ectostracum just beneath the surface is fibrillar; the fibers are not figured here.
- B. Ostrea sp. Longitudinal section of shell (x1). Braided black lines = sublayers with «normal type» folia; white areas = sublayers with «chalky» substance.
- C. Longitudinal section and inner surface of a pelecypod valve showing positional relationship of three major palliostracal layers to each other, as well as to the pallial line and adductor scar.
- D. Longitudinal and oblique sections and inner surface of a pelecypod shell showing pallial and adductor myostraca.
- E. *Pitar lupanaria* (Lesson). Outside view and longitudinal section of shell showing the reflected marginal region and an apically-opened spine (x1). Section of spine shown at upper right of figure.
- F. Longitudinal section of a pelecypod near margin showing growth sublayers in the mesostracum. Fast-growth sublayers dashed.
- G. Longitudinal section of a pelecypod near margin showing true sublayers (a and b) in the mesostracum.
- H. Longitudinal section of a pelecypod showing relationship of growth and overlap sublayers. A = slow-growth sublayer; B = fast-growth sublayer; C = overlap sublayer.
- I. Longitudinal section of a pelecypod near marginal region showing imbrications of the ectostracum into the mesostracum.
- J. Longitudinal section of a pelecypod near marginal region showing some growth lines; marginal region steeply inclined.
- K. Same as before, marginal region shelf-like.
- L. Same as before, marginal region reflected.
- M. Same as before, marginal region with subperipheral inflection and steep outer portion.
- N. Longitudinal section of a pelecypod, near pallial line showing homochronous secretion of endostracum and mesostracum (schematic).
- O. Same as before, showing heterochronous secretion of the endostracum and mesostracum.
- P. Spondylus pictorum Chemnitz. Hypotype no 36270. Longitudinal section of the marginal region (x2). a = crossed-lamellae; b = inner sublayer of the foliated

layer with steeply inclined folia; c = outer sublayer of the foliated layer with almost horizontal folia.

- Q. Portion of an inner surface of a pelecypod shell showing the pallial line (and hence the pallial myostracum) marginal to the adductor scar (and adductor myo-stracum).
- R. Same as above, showing pallial line (pallial myostracum) connecting to the marginal region of the adductor scar (adductor myostracum).
- S. Same as above, showing pallial line (pallial myostracum) connecting to the lateral margins of the adductor scar (adductor myostracum).

Figure 2

- A. Longitudinal section of a pelecypod showing endostracal tubules.
- B. Same as above, showing mesendostracal tubules.
- C. Distribution of tubules as in B, showing in detail the tubulation pattern in the apical region.
- D. Longitudinal section of the apical region, tubules occurring in all three layers.
- E. Longitudinal section of a pelecypod showing tubules occurring in all three layers.
- F. Longitudinal section of a pelecypod, tubules in all three layers but appearing only within the pallial line.
- G. Longitudinal section of the marginal region of an arcid, showing distribution of tubules (schematic). Apically from the pallial line the tubules rise gradually in the mesectostracum, the angle between the tips of the rising tubules and the outer surface being in a number of cases about 60 °.
- H. Hinnites giganteus (Gray). Longitudinal section through part of the endostracum showing arrangement of tubules (x20). The polygonal areas represent stacks of folia.
- I. Trachycardium (Trachycardium) consors (Sowerby). Transverse section showing types of partitions (x5). Solid line = primary partition; dashed line = secondary partition; dotted line = lower continuation of primary partition, usually lacking.
- J. Trachycardium (Trachycardium) consors (Sowerby). Transverse section showing ribbing structure (x5). The dashed areas are the «opaque inverted commas» on the interspace area side of the partitions. The growth line pattern in the rib area tends to be tongue-like. In the interspace area the outermost growth lines show two convexities and three concavities; further in, only one convexity and two concavities. A small furrow on the flange produces the sharp rise just in from the partition at the left of the interspace area.
- K. Transverse section of three composite ribs of a pelecypod showing relationship of rib and interspace areas and partitions.

- L. Transverse section of a pelecypod with contiguous peripheral denticles. The thick black line surrounding each denticle represents the slow-growth deposits that occur there; those of two adjoining denticles appear to coalesce, but in some shells there may be a plane of weakness and perhaps even a narrow fissure between the partitions of two adjoining denticles. The growth lines in each denticle are concentric and the structural elements are perpendicular to the growth lines and hence radially arranged. (See also CHAVAN, 1943.)
- M. Transverse section and inner view of a denticle of a composite ribbing showing position of flanges.
- N. Transverse vertical section across a subperipheral denticle showing pattern of growth laminae; a =slow-growth laminae; b =fast-growth laminae; p =partition.

Figure 3

- A. Longitudinal section showing the main shell layers in a primitive gastropod (schematic).
- B. Longitudinal section showing the main shell layers in a primitive cephalopod (schematic, based on an uncoiled *Nautilus*).
- C. Longitudinal section showing the main shell layers in a scaphopod (schematic).
- D. Longitudinal section showing the main shell layers in a chiton (schematic).
- E. Longitudinal section showing the main shell layers in a pelecypod (schematic).
- F. Longitudinal section of the marginal region of a pelecypod shell showing the orientation of the «perpendicular» micro-structural elements as they appear in many genera. A-B-C = structural element which originates at the outer shell surface, and reaches all the way to the mesendostracal boundary.
- G. Longitudinal section of the marginal region of a pelecypod with a reflected margin, showing the radiating pattern of the structural elements in the ectostracum. The structural elements such as A—A' originate at the periphery near the middle of the ectostracum and with further growth of the shell migrate upwards and downwards (as indicated by arrows), while new elements continually appear in the middle of the ectostracum.
- H.—K. Transverse section of a rib of the Lyropecten group showing formation of interlocking structure of the rib area by growth of the folia towards the axis of the area, the folia on the two sides of the rib area alternating and each in turn spreading somewthat beyond the axis of the rib area (as deduced from observations of many consecutive sections). The arrows indicate the direction of migration of the individual folia.
- L. Spondylus pictorum Chemnitz. Transverse section showing ribbing structures, especially the characteristic loop-shaped arrangement of the folia in the rib areas, and the more or less circular sections of stacks of rod-like folia in the interspace areas (x2).

- M. Lithophaga plumula Hanley. Longitudinal section showing layers and sublayers in the shell (much magnified, thickness much exaggerated). Black = conchiolin sheets or sublayers in endostracum; white = nacreous sublayers in endostracum; striped = prismatic sublayers in endostracum.
- N. Lithophaga plumula Hanley. Longitudinal section showing erosion of shell from outside (indicated by broken arrows) and secretion of endostracal conchiolin sheets on the inside (full arrows). Schematic. The individual endostracal conchiolin sheets are indicated by black bands in the endostracum. Much magnified. Thickness of shell much exaggerated.

60











En



G







Ec

Me

Ec

En

D

Me

Me





Μ



Fig. 3

